

# **SCIENTIFIC OPINION**

# Nitrite as undesirable substances in animal feed<sup>1</sup>

# Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain

# (Question N° EFSA-Q-2005-287)

# Adopted on 25<sup>th</sup> March 2009

#### PANEL MEMBERS

Jan Alexander, Diane Benford, Andrew Cockburn, Jean-Pierre Cravedi, Eugenia Dogliotti, Alessandro Di Domenico, Maria Luisa Férnandez-Cruz, Peter Fürst, Johanna Fink-Gremmels, Corrado Lodovico Galli, Philippe Grandjean, Jadwiga Gzyl, Gerhard Heinemeyer, Niklas Johansson, Antonio Mutti, Josef Schlatter, Rolaf van Leeuwen, Carlos Van Peteghem, Philippe Verger.

#### SUMMARY

Nitrite is formed naturally by the nitrogen cycle during the process of nitrogen fixation and it is subsequently converted to nitrate, a major nutrient assimilated by plants. Two main nitrite salt forms occur, namely sodium and potassium nitrite.

In animal tissues, nitrite is naturally present mainly as the result of endogenous nitrate conversion. Animal feed represents a natural source of exogenous nitrite and because of its potential for toxicity at excessive levels of intake, the Directive (EC) No 2002/32/EC on undesirable substances in animal feed established maximum limits for sodium nitrite in complete feedingstuffs excluding feedingstuffs intended for pets except birds and aquarium fish, and fish meal of 15 and 60 mg/kg, respectively (corresponding to 10 and 40 mg/kg for the nitrite ion). Nitrite in drinking water is regulated in Europe, with a maximum level of 0.5 mg/L. Nitrate levels in forages are naturally high and the inter-conversion of nitrate to nitrite is the largest contributor to nitrite exposure in food-producing animals. Dietary intake of nitrite per se results from the use of vegetable feeds and forages, fertilisers/manures or when used as an antimicrobial for preservation, for example in silage, processed pet food, and in former times fish meal. Additionally, water can be an important dietary source of nitrite via reduction of nitrate. The main analytical technique used to measure both nitrite and nitrate is colourimetry because of its sensitivity and specificity. Three member states provided analytical results on feedingstuffs and nitrite levels were below the maximum levels in all feed commodities.

Acutely, nitrite is approximately ten-fold more toxic than nitrate and three main toxicological endpoints have been identified: methaemoglobin formation (in a wide range of species including man), hypertrophy of the adrenal zona glomerulosa (rats), and equivocal evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For citation purposes: Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain on a request from the European Commission on nitrite as undesirable substances in animal feed. *The EFSA Journal* (2009) 1017, 1-47.



for carcinogenesis (female mice). The Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for nitrite 0-0.07 mg/kg body weight (b.w.) per day has been endorsed by the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM Panel) of the European Food Safety Authority during the recent risk benefit assessment of nitrate in vegetables.

In monogastric animals, most nitrite is formed and absorbed in the upper digestive tract. In contrast in ruminants, nitrite and nitrate is metabolised by the rumen flora. Reports of adverse effects after excessive nitrite exposure in livestock exist, and pigs and ruminants, as major food producing animals, are particularly susceptible: this is because of relatively low nitrite reductase activity and high levels of rumen conversion of exogenous nitrate to nitrite, respectively. Acknowledging diverse husbandry conditions between reported studies, No-Observed Adverse Effect Levels (NOAELs) for pigs and cattle have been estimated from the literature with a value of 3.3 mg/kg b.w. per day in both species. In turn, total daily nitrite intakes were estimated for pigs and cattle using the maximum exposure level in complete feed according to the current legislation (10 mg/kg), typical feeding regimens within the European Union and maximum nitrite level in forages from member states (cattle). Overall, the estimated nitrite intakes for pigs and cattle from feed were 0.37 and 0.65 mg/kg b.w. per day (excluding endogenous formation of nitrite) respectively, corresponding to margins of safety of 9 and 5 in comparison with the respective NOAELs. The CONTAM Panel considered that such levels do not pose concerns for animal health given that livestock are husbanded under good agricultural practices. The protection of livestock health is further reinforced by the awareness of livestock producers, of the conditions that are likely to lead to nitrite poisoning particularly regarding high levels of nitrate in forages and the inter-conversion of nitrate to nitrite.

The CONTAM Panel concluded that the typical daily human dietary exposure to nitrite from fresh animal products (e.g. milk, meat and eggs) is only (2.9 %) of the total daily dietary exposure to nitrite. The CONTAM Panel concludes that such low nitrite levels in fresh animal products do not raise any concern for human health.

Key words: nitrite, feedingstuffs, toxicity, exposure, carry-over, animal health, human health.



#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Panel Members	. 1			
Summary	. 1			
Table of Contents	. 3			
Background as provided by the European Commission	.4			
1. General background	. 4			
2. Specific background	. 5			
Terms of reference as provided by the European Commission	. 5			
Assessment	. 7			
1. Introduction	. 7			
1.1. Chemistry, production and use of nitrite	. 7			
1.2. Hazard assessment for humans	. 8			
2. Methods of analysis	11			
3. Current legislation	12			
4. Occurrence in feed	12			
4.1. Occurrence in feeding materials	13			
5. Estimating nitrite intake in feed by farm livestock	18			
6. Adverse effects in livestock, fish and pets	19			
6.1. Ruminants				
6.2. Pigs	24			
6.3. Rabbits	25			
6.4. Poultry	25			
6.5. Fish	25			
6.6. Horses	26			
6.7. Fur animals	26			
6.8. Cats and dogs	26			
7. Toxicokinetics	27			
7.1. Absorption	28			
7.2. Distribution	28			
7.3. Metabolism	29			
7.4. Excretion	29			
8. Carry-over and residues	30			
9. Animal risk assessment	30			
10. Human intoxication	31			
11. Human dietary exposure and risk assessment	32			
Conclusions and recommendations	33			
Conclusions	33			
References	36			
Abbreviations	47			



#### BACKGROUND AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

#### 1. General background

Directive 2002/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 7 May 2002 on undesirable substances in animal feed<sup>2</sup> replaces since 1 August 2003 Council Directive 1999/29/EC of 22 April 1999 on the undesirable substances and products in animal nutrition<sup>3</sup>.

The main modifications can be summarised as follows:

- extension of the scope of the Directive to include the possibility of establishing maximum limits for undesirable substances in feed additives;
- deletion of the existing possibility to dilute contaminated feed materials instead of decontamination or destruction (introduction of the principle of non-dilution);
- deletion of the possibility for derogation of the maximum limits for particular local reasons;
- introduction the possibility of the establishment of an action threshold triggering an investigation to identify the source of contamination ("early warning system") and to take measures to reduce or eliminate the contamination ("pro-active approach").

In particular the introduction of the principle of non-dilution is an important and far- reaching measure. In order to protect public and animal health, it is important that the overall contamination of the food and feed chain is reduced to a level as low as reasonably achievable providing a high level of public health and animal health protection. The deletion of the possibility of dilution is a powerful means to stimulate all operators throughout the chain to apply the necessary prevention measures to avoid contamination as much as possible. The prohibition of dilution accompanied with the necessary control measures will effectively contribute to safer feed.

During the discussions in view of the adoption of Directive 2002/32/EC the Commission made the commitment to review the provisions laid down in Annex I on the basis of updated scientific risk assessments and taking into account the prohibition of any dilution of contaminated non-complying products intended for animal feed. The Commission has therefore requested the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition (SCAN) in March 2001 to provide these updated scientific risk assessments in order to enable the Commission to finalise this review as soon as possible (Question 121 on undesirable substances in feed)<sup>4</sup>.

The opinion on undesirable substances in feed, adopted by SCAN on 20 February 2003 and updated on 25 April 2003<sup>5</sup> provides a comprehensive overview on the possible risks for animal and public health as the consequence of the presence of undesirable substances in animal feed.

It was nevertheless acknowledged by SCAN itself and by the Standing Committee on the Food Chain and Animal Health that for several undesirable substances additional detailed risk assessments are necessary to enable a complete review of the provisions in the Annex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> OJ L140, 30.5.2002, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> OJ L 115, 4.5.1999, p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Summary record of the 135<sup>th</sup> SCAN Plenary meeting, Brussels, 21-22 March 2001, point 8 – New questions (http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out61\_en.pdf).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on Undesirable Substances in Feed, adopted on 20 February 2003, updated on 25 April 2003 (http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out126\_bis\_en.pdf).



#### 2. Specific background

Natural occurrence of nitrite in the environment is a consequence of the nitrogen cycle, but usually nitrite is found in very low concentration. Nitrite is formed in nature by the action of nitrifying bacteria as an intermediate stage in the formation of nitrates. Conversely, microbiological conversion of nitrate to nitrite may also occur, for instance in the digestive tract.

Nitrite is widely used in the processing and preservation of certain meat products. Nitrite has been used in some countries for the preservation of fish meal submitted to heat treatment, but is no longer permitted as it has been suspected to generate nitrosamines when reacting with higher amines present in fish.

Directive 2002/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 7 May 2002 on undesirable substances in animal feed establishes maximum levels for nitrite in fish meal and complete feed excluding feedingstuffs for pets except birds and aquarium fish.

SCAN concluded<sup>6</sup> that the ions and elements, including nitrite, listed in Council Directive 2002/32/EC are commonly encountered substances with known toxicity. In each case, the contribution of food products of animal origin to the human exposure is limited and listing of these elements as undesirable substance in feed, although concomitantly contributing to an overall reduction of human exposure to toxic forms, is mainly justified by reasons of animal health.

SCAN concluded furthermore that a detailed risk assessment of the presence of nitrite in animal feed and the possible effects for animal health and public health is necessary. Nitrite is an endogenous compound naturally present in feed materials of plant and animal origin. The natural levels in commercially available feedingstuffs have not been reported to cause intoxication of farm animals. As a consequence, retaining a maximum level for nitrite in feedingstuffs appears to serve no practical purpose. Therefore, SCAN is of the opinion that nitrite could be removed from the Annex to the Directive 2002/32/EC. The requested detailed assessment should provide information to judge if this conclusion from SCAN can be confirmed.

#### TERMS OF REFERENCE AS PROVIDED BY THE EUROPEAN COMMISSION

In accordance with Article 29 (1) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 the European Commission asks the European Food Safety Authority requests to provide a scientific opinion on the presence of nitrite in animal feed.

This detailed scientific opinion should comprise the

- determination of the toxic exposure levels (daily exposure) of nitrite for the different animal species (difference in sensitivity between animal species) above which
  - signs of toxicity can be observed (animal health / impact on animal health) or
  - the level of transfer/carry over of nitrite from the feed to the products of animal origin results in unacceptable levels of nitrite in the products of animal origin in view of providing a high level of public health protection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on Undesirable Substances in Feed, point 6.11. Conclusions and recommendations.



- identification of feed materials which could be considered as sources of contamination by nitrite and the characterisation, insofar as possible, of the distribution of levels of contamination
- assessment of the contribution of the different identified feed materials as sources of contamination by nitrite
  - to the overall exposure of the different relevant animal species to nitrite
  - to the impact on animal health,
  - to the contamination of food of animal origin (the impact on public health), taking into account the dietary variations and variable carry over rates (bio-availability) depending on the nature of the different feed materials.
- identification of eventual gaps in the available data which need to be filled in order to complete the evaluation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Scientific Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on nitrite as undesirable substances in animal feed for the preparation of this opinion: Gianfranco Brambilla, Andrew Cockburn, Bruce Cottrill, María Luisa Fernández-Cruz and Carlos Van Peteghem.



#### ASSESSMENT

#### 1. Introduction

Nitrite is the anion of inorganic nitrite salts, the most important of which are sodium nitrite and potassium nitrite. It is formed naturally by the nitrogen cycle during the process of nitrogen fixation. It is subsequently converted to nitrate, a major plant nutrient. In vertebrates, nitrate is converted to nitrite and other metabolites (nitric oxide and N-nitroso compounds) either in the saliva of most monogastric animals or in the stomach of ruminants due to microbiological action. Exposure to nitrite has been associated with potential adverse health implications, acutely methaemoglobin formation and chronically gastric neoplasia in mice, for which in the case of the latter clear evidence in man is not confirmed. Reports of adverse effects in livestock exist due to nitrite feed contamination and pigs and ruminants are particularly susceptible to its toxicity, based on their respective physiology. Overall, the acute toxicity of nitrite has been shown to be approximately 10-fold higher than that of nitrate, and because of its natural presence in plants, silages, forages, water and feed, the Directive 2002/32/EC limits its content in commercial feed used for livestock, fish and pets, excluding birds and aquarium fish.

The first international evaluation of the risks associated with the ingestion of nitrite was conducted by the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) in 1961 (FAO/WHO, 1962). The Scientific Committee for Food (SCF) reviewed the toxicological effects of nitrite and established temporary Acceptable Daily Intakes (ADI) of 0-0.1 mg/kg b.w. per day in 1990 (EU, 1992) and 0-0.06 mg/kg b.w. per day in 1995 (EU, 1995). In 2002, the JECFA set an ADI of 0-0.07 mg/kg b.w. per day (FAO/WHO, 2003a,b). An Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) for nitrate of 3.7 mg/kg b.w. per day, was established by the former SCF and was reconfirmed by the JECFA in 2002 and by the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM Panel) of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) in 2008 (EFSA, 2008a).

In order to perform a risk assessment for nitrite in feed for animals and human health, the potential sources of nitrite exposure have been identified as feed and drinking water for animal health and animal products for human health. However, there are multiple other sources and salts of nitrite (plants, soil, standing water, as well as inter-conversion from nitrate from feed, plants and water). In consequence because of the difficulty of estimating the overall nitrite exposure for each livestock species under the full range of typical husbandry situations, the present opinion focuses on the impact of nitrite in feed on animal and human health. For convention, the term nitrite, which has been used throughout this report, refers to the ion ( $NO_2^{-}$ ).

#### **1.1.** Chemistry, production and use of nitrite

Natural occurrence of nitrite in the environment is a consequence of the nitrogen cycle, but usually nitrite is found in very low concentration. Nitrite is formed in nature by the action of nitrifying bacteria as an intermediate stage in the formation of nitrates. Synthetically, nitrites of the alkali earth metals can be produced by reacting a mixture of nitrogen monoxide (NO) and nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) with the corresponding metal hydroxide solution, as well as through the thermal decomposition of the corresponding nitrate. Nitrite can be reduced to nitric oxide or ammonia by many species of bacteria.

Nitrite  $(NO_2)$  is the anion of inorganic nitrite salts, the most important of which are sodium nitrite and potassium nitrite.

Sodium nitrite, with the chemical formula NaNO<sub>2</sub>, is a white to slightly yellowish crystalline powder. It has a solubility of 82 g/100 mL water at 20°C. It is hygroscopic. It has a melting point of 270°C and decomposes above 320°C. It slowly oxidizes in the air to sodium nitrate.

It is used as an antimicrobial agent, a preservative and a colour fixative in meats and fish. In the European Union (EU) and, when labelled 'for food use', sodium nitrite may only be sold in a mixture with salt (NaCl) or a salt substitute<sup>7</sup>. Sodium nitrite is known as E250. As a food additive it stabilizes the colour of preserved fish and meats and also it inhibits the growth of *Clostridium botulinum*, the bacterium, which produces the botulinum toxin. Maximal residual amounts, expressed as mg NaNO<sub>2</sub>/kg have been set for various types of meat products (Part C of Annex III of Council Directive N° 95/2/EC). It is also used in the manufacturing of azo dyes, nitroso compounds and other organic compounds. Other applications are: dyeing and printing of textile fabrics, bleaching of fibres, in photography, in metal coatings for phosphatising and detinning and as an analytical reagent.

It has been used in human and veterinary medicine, as a vasodilator, a bronchodilator and as an antidote for cyanide poisoning. In veterinary medicine the substance is intended for use (together with other antimicrobial agents or biocides) as an antiseptic by topical application to the teats of dairy cows after milking in order to prevent mastitis. The residues of nitrite in milk from cows treated with sodium nitrite have been shown to be below the limit of detection so that such residues in milk can be considered negligible (EMEA, 2006). The Committee for Medicinal Products for veterinary use (CVMP), recommended in 2006 the inclusion of sodium nitrite for bovine species for topical use only in Annex II of Council Regulation (EEC) n° 2377/90.

Potassium nitrite, with chemical formula KNO<sub>2</sub>, is a white to slightly yellow crystalline powder. The melting point is at 441°C but decomposition starts at 350°C. It is very soluble in water. After drying it contains not less than 95 % KNO<sub>2</sub>, the remainder consisting chiefly of nitrate. It is used as a colour fixative in fish products and in pickling and curing meat, sometimes in combination with sodium nitrite and with potassium and sodium nitrates. Like sodium nitrite it inhibits the growth of the botulism-causing bacterium *Clostridium botulinum*. As a permitted food additive, it is known in the EU as E249.

# **1.2.** Hazard assessment for humans

Dietary studies from the UK (MAFF, 1998) and France (Causeret, 1984) were used by EFSA (EFSA, 2008a) to estimate the average exogenous intake of nitrite (1.5-2.0 mg/person b.w. per day) in humans. From these total dietary estimates, the major contributors to exogenous dietary nitrite are vegetables and fruit (11-41 %), animal-based products (35-39 %), of which non-preserved animal products (milk, dairy products fresh meat, fish and eggs) represent 14 %, water (5-7 %) and other food (15-47 %), approximating to 1.5 to 2.0 mg/person/day. In quantitative terms, dietary nitrite represents less than 20 % (15-17 %) of the total daily nitrite exposure, (7.3 to 11.3 mg/person/day), the remaining 80 % (83-85 %) resulting from the endogenous bioconversion of dietary nitrate to nitrite in saliva; key sources of nitrate being vegetables and fruit (52-75 %) and water (14-22 %) (EFSA, 2008a).

Historically, risk assessments for humans from nitrate and nitrite dietary exposure have been performed by the SCF and JECFA (EC, 1992, 1995; FAO/WHO, 2003a,b) and more recently by the CONTAM Panel of EFSA as a risk benefit assessment of nitrate in vegetables. Overall, there were no new toxicological data available that would impact the Acceptable Daily

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> OJ L 61, 20.2. 1995, p27.



Intakes (ADI) for either nitrate or nitrite so the JECFA values were kept in the CONTAM Panel's assessment (EFSA, 2008a).

The following section presents a short summary of the toxicology of nitrite with particular emphasis on the potential for human health effects. Nitrate is not discussed in detail as it is not the subject of the terms of reference, although the critical studies leading to its ADI are presented for completeness as these illustrate its comparative toxicity in relation to nitrite.

The acute toxicity of sodium nitrite is approximately 10-fold higher than that of nitrate with  $LD_{50}$  values of 214, 180, 186 mg/kg b.w. in mice, rats and in rabbits (corresponding to 143, 121, 126 mg/kg b.w. for nitrite, respectively) compared to 2500-6250, 3300-9000, 1900-2680 mg/kg b.w. for sodium nitrate (corresponding to 1525-3810, 2440-6660, 1410-2000 for mg/kg b.w. for nitrate) (NIOSH, 1987; Speijers, 1987; Walker, 1990).

A 14 week drinking water study was conducted in B6C3F1 mice (10 males and 10 females/group) at dose levels ranging from 90-1230 mg/kg b.w. per day sodium nitrite (corresponding to 60-824 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite). Overall at the highest dose, body weight, spleen weight and sperm counts were lower in males compared to controls. In females, absolute and relative organ weights (heart, kidney, liver and spleen), and the length of oestrous cycle were impaired. Squamous cell hyperplasia of the forestomach and extramedullary hematopoiesis were more frequent at the two highest nitrite levels in both sexes as well as degeneration of testis in males resulting in a NOAEL of 190 mg/kg b.w./day (corresponding to 127 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite) for this species (National Toxicology Programme NTP, 2001). A 14 week drinking water study was conducted in male and female rats (10 males and 10 females per group) at dose levels of 30-340 mg/kg b.w. per day of sodium nitrite (corresponding to 20-228 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite). Elevated methaemoglobin was observed at all doses. Sperm motility was used as the endpoint to determine a no observed effect level (NOEL) of 55 mg/kg b.w. per day for sodium nitrite corresponding to 37 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite (NTP, 2001).

Mutagenicity of nitrite was shown *in vitro Salmonella typhimurium* strain TA100 both with and without metabolic activation but not in strain TA98 (NTP, 2001). Chromosome aberrations in mammalian cells were investigated in *in vitro* culture of peripheral blood lymphocytes and at high concentrations of sodium nitrite (14.4 mM), a slight increase in micronucleated cells and chromatid gaps was noted (Balimandawa *et al.*, 1993). No micronuclei induction *in vivo* in mice bone marrow or peripheral blood in a 14-week study was observed. Overall, the JECFA concluded that there is no evidence for the reclassification nitrite as a genotoxic compound (NTP, 2001; FAO/WHO, 2003a,b; EFSA, 2008a).

Three main endpoints have been identified regarding nitrite toxicity namely, methaemoglobinaemia, hypertrophy of the adrenal zona glomerulosa (rat), and potential carcinogenesis (mouse):

(1) The acute formation of methaemoglobin (metHb) results from the reaction of the nitrite metabolite nitric oxide with oxyhaemoglobin, at the same time forming nitrate. Factors that are critical to metHb formation include increased nitrite levels, intestinal infection together with inflammation of the stomach lining and levels of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH)-cytochrome b5 methaemoglobin reductase (which converts metHb back to haemoglobin). MetHb background levels are in the range of 1-3 %, above 10 % there is a reduction of oxygen transport, above 20 % cyanosis and hypoxia can occur, and an increase to 50 % can prove fatal (Mensinga *et al.*, 2003). Infants under 3 months of age are more susceptible to metHb than adults due to a 40-50 % reduction of the activity of NADH-



cytochrome b5 methaemoglobin reductase together with their increased likelihood of getting intestinal infections (Savino *et al.*, 2006).

(2) Hypertrophy of the adrenal zona glomerulosa has been investigated in a 13-week Wistar rat study, for which the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) was 5.4 mg/kg b.w. per day for the nitrite (Til *et al.*, 1997; Boink *et al.*, 1998; Mensinga *et al.*, 2003). This finding is not considered pertinent to the current risk assessment of livestock feed.

(3) Two year carcinogenicity studies for sodium nitrite were conducted under the National Toxicology Programme (NTP, 2001) in B6C3F1 mice and F344/N rats. Mice (50 male and 50 female B6C3F1 mice) were exposed through drinking water to daily doses equivalent to 0, 60, 120, or 220 mg/kg b.w. per day (corresponding to 40, 80, 147 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite) and 0, 45, 90, or 165 mg/kg b.w. per day respectively (corresponding to 0, 30, 60, 111 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite). There were no differences in survival between exposed groups versus controls although lower body weights in females at the highest dose were observed. Incidences of squamous cell papilloma or carcinoma (combined) in the forestomach of female mice occurred with a positive dose-related trend but it was not statistically significant) with respectively. In males, the incidence of hyperplasia of the glandular stomach epithelium was significantly greater at the highest dose and the authors concluded that there was equivocal evidence for carcinogenic activity in females based on the trend in the combined incidence of squamous cell papilloma of the forestomach (NTP, 2001).

In an early chronic toxicity study (Gruener and Shuval,1973)., rats were given nitrite in the drinking water at doses equivalent to 0, 10, 100, 200 and 300 mg/kg b.w. per day (corresponding to 0, 6.7, 67, 124, 201 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite). No significant differences were found between control and treated groups for growth, mortality and total haemoglobin levels. At the highest three doses, methaemoglobin increased to 5, 12 and 22 % and lung toxicity was observed with dilatation of the bronchi with infiltration of lymphocytes and emphysema and at the highest dose, focal degeneration and fibrosis of the heart muscle as well as dilatation of coronary arteries were also observed. Based on heart and lung toxicity the NOAEL for sodium nitrite was 10 mg/kg b.w. per day and hence the NOAEL for the nitrite ion was 6.7 mg/kg b.w. per day (FAO/WHO, 2003a, b; EFSA, 2008a).

For nitrate, no adverse effects were observed in two dogs after dosing sodium nitrate in the diet at a level of 2 % for 105 and 125 days (Lehman, 1958), calculated to be equivalent to 500 mg/kg b.w. per day corresponding to 370 mg/kg b.w. per day nitrate (Walker, 1990).

The recent risk assessment performed by the CONTAM Panel used the NOEL value of 6.7 mg/kg b.w. per day of nitrite based on heart and lung toxicity from a 2 year rat study (Maekawa *et al.*, 1982) and endorsed the ADI of 0-0.07 mg/kg b.w. per day for nitrite (FAO/WHO, 2003a,b; EFSA, 2008a). For nitrate, a NOEL of 500 mg/kg b.w. per day of sodium nitrate corresponding to 370 mg/kg b.w. per day of nitrate derived from long term studies in rats and a subchronic toxicity study in dogs (Lehman, 1958 cited in FAO/WHO 1962; Lijinski, 1973; EFSA, 2008a) was used to develop the ADI. A transposed NOAEL for nitrate, reflecting the conversion of nitrate to nitrite in the saliva and based on the NOAEL for nitrite were also considered by the JECFA (FAO/WHO, 2003a, b) and the recent CONTAM assessment for nitrate in vegetables. These values were derived by applying an uncertainty factor of 50 to the "transposed" NOAEL for normal converters of 160 mg/kg b.w. per day. This resulted in an ADI of 3.2 mg/kg b.w. per day for transposed nitrate which lies within the



same range as the traditionally established ADI for nitrate (3.7 mg/kg per day) (FAO/WHO, 2003a; EFSA, 2008a), thus supporting the latter figure.

#### 2. Methods of analysis

According to Article 11 of Regulation No 882/2004<sup>8</sup> analysis methods used in the context of official controls shall comply with relevant Community rules or, (a) if no such rules exist, with internationally recognised rules or protocols, for example those that the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) has accepted or those agreed in national legislation; or, (b) in the absence of the above, with other methods fit for the intended purpose or developed in accordance with scientific protocols.

Commission Regulation (EC) No 152/2009 of 27 January 2009 lays down the topical methods of sampling and analysis for the official control of feed<sup>9</sup>. Contrary to a number of other undesirable substances, no official analytical method is prescribed by this Regulation for the determination of nitrite in animal feed.

The European Committee of Standardization (CEN) has elaborated a number of standards for the determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content of vegetables, vegetable products, including vegetable containing food for babies and infants as well as in meat and meat products (EN (12014), 1997a, b, c; 1998, 1999, 2005a, b). In contrast, no specific methods for the determination of nitrite in feed were established by CEN.

The official method of analysis of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) for the determination of nitrate and nitrite in animal feed is a colorimetric method. Nitrate and nitrite are extracted with cadmium chloride and barium chloride solution. Bulks of soluble proteins are precipitated in alkaline solution and the clarified solution is passed through a metallic cadmium column, reducing nitrate to nitrite. Nitrite is measured colorimetrically after a diazo-coupling reaction (Griess reaction) at 540 nm (AOAC, 1995). Many alternative methods have been developed and proposed, mainly in view of the toxicity and carcinogenicity of the cadmium column, used in the preparation of the samples. However, not all of them have been adequately validated but only compared with the above AOAC method with regard to some particular parameters such as the recovery and limits of detection and/or quantification.

Several methods have been reported for the simultaneous quantitative determination of nitrate and nitrite, including chromatography (Butt *et al.*, 2001; Siu and Henshall, 1998; McMullen *et al.*, 2005; Stalikas *et al.*, 2003; Merino *et al.*, 2000; Di Matteo *et al.*, 1997), amperometry, capillary electrophoresis (Öztekin *et al.*, 2002) and spectrophotometry (Ensafi *et al.*, 2004; Casanova *et al.*, 2006; Andrade *et al.*, 2003; Kazemzadeh and Ensafi, 2001).

Methods, selectively intended for the quantitative determination of nitrite alone include kinetic methods (Koupparis *et al.*, 1982; Liang *et al.*, 1994), spectrophotometry with or without flow injection analysis (Ensafi and Dehaghei, 1999; Ghasemi *et al.*, 2004; Fang *et al.*, 2002; Chen *et al.*, 1999; Ensafi and Keyvanfard, 1994), chemiluminescence (He *et al.*, 2007; Gao *et al.*, 2005), fluorescence (Li *et al.*, 2003; Jie *et al.*, 1999; Jie *et al.*, 1994; Jie *et al.* 1993; Gao 2002), optical sensor technology (Kazemzadeh, 2005; Kazemzadeh and Daghighi, 2005) and even dipstick technology (Fang *et al.*, 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> OJ L165, 30.4.2004, p. 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> OJ L 54, 26.2.2009, p. 1



#### **3.** Current legislation

The Council Directive 2002/32/EC prescribes that all products intended for animal feed must be of sound, genuine, and of merchantable quality and should neither pose risk to animal health and productivity nor to human health or the environment. Annex 1 to Council Directive 2002/32/EC<sup>10</sup> lists at present a number of compounds that are considered undesirable in animal feeds and prescribes maximum limits in different feed commodities. The current EU maximum levels (ML) for certain feed materials containing nitrite are given in Table 1.

# Table 1.EU legislation on sodium nitrite in feed materials as listed currently in Annex1 of Council Directive 2002/32/EC.

Undesirable substances	Product intended for animal feed	Maximum content in mg/kg relative to a feedingstuff* with a moisture content of 12 %
	Fish meal	60 (expressed as sodium nitrite)
Nitrite	Complete feedingstuffs* excluding: - feedingstuffs intended for pets except birds and aquarium fish	15 (expressed as sodium nitrite)

\*Complete feedingstuff: a mixture that is sufficient to fulfil the nutritional requirements for the animal species or category under consideration.

The sodium nitrite levels described in table 1 correspond to a maximum content of the nitrite ion of 40 and 10 mg/kg in fish meal and complete feedingstuffs, respectively. Levels of nitrite in water are laid down in Council Directive 98/83/EC with a maximum limit value of 0.5 mg/l. With regard to nitrate, international efforts have been put in place to reduce and limit its occurrence in water using Good Agricultural Practice (GAP) controlling the application of nitrogen fertilizer and/or manures limiting concentrations of inorganic nitrogenous compounds in ground and surface waters. Council Directive 91/676/EEC has been implemented to protect waters from nitrate pollution in EU countries from agricultural sources. Maximum levels for nitrate in drinking water (50 mg/L) are also laid down in Council Directive 98/83/EC.

Nevertheless, it should be recognised that nitrite and nitrate are used as food additives particularly for their anti-bacterial properties against the potentially lethal pathogen *Clostridium botulinum*, and good endogenous efficacy against bacterial gastroenteritis (McKnight *et al.*, 1997; 1999; Duncan *et al.*, 1995; Dykhuizen *et al.*, 1996; Vallance, 1997).

#### 4. Occurrence in feed

Animal rations may contain nitrite that is naturally present in vegetable feeds or less commonly which has been added as a preservative e.g. in the production of silage (it is used for silage for the same reason as in certain foods, aiming at the suppression of *C. botulinum*). Additionally, water can be an important source of nitrite via the reduction of nitrate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> OJ L 140, 30.5.2002, p. 10–22



# 4.1. Occurrence in feeding materials

# 4.1.1 Occurrence in plant feeds

The natural levels of nitrite in fresh plant material, with certain exceptions, are generally very low and few data have been published (Trif et al., 1986; EFSA, 2008a) and, as noted by SCAN (EC, 2003), typical levels in feedingstuffs have not been reported to cause toxicity in farm animals<sup>11</sup>. Nitrite is not normally present in soils to any significant extent, and as a result it is not normally available for uptake by plants. Furthermore, if nitrite would be present in significant quantities, it would be toxic to the plant (Archer, 1985). As in the case of vegetables grown for human consumption, several plant species are known to accumulate nitrate up to very high levels, and adverse health effects have been associated with more than 80 forage species that can lead to nitrite poisoning (Clarke and Clarke, 1975). Practically, the majority do not represent major feeds for livestock. Nitrite poisoning occurs predominantly in ruminants although pigs are potentially more susceptible to nitrite poisoning than cattle or sheep (Stormorken, 1953). The reason for the difference is that pigs are not normally fed forage-based diets which have the potential for higher nitrite content than the predominantly cereal-based feeds employed for pigs. Overall, the incidence of nitrite poisoning in livestock is generally low due to farmer awareness and their management of the known risk factors both for the animals and the feed supply/constituents with good agricultural practice. Table 2 reports the content of nitrate (the major source of nitrite via interconversion) of feeds which are generally considered to be safe as guidance values (Crowley, 1985).

 Table 2.
 Typical nitrate content of common feeds dry matter basis) considered to be safe.

Feeding stuff	$NO_3^-(mg/kg)$
Maize grain	22
Oat grain	44
Soybean oil meal	4
Fresh alfalfa or alfalfa hay	1760
Alfalfa silage	880

The accumulation of nitrate in plants is influenced by a range of factors (Cooper and Johnson, 1984; Osweiler *et al*, 1985; Gupta, 2007):

- *Stage of maturity:* under normal growing conditions, nitrate concentrations tend to decrease as plants mature, and therefore young plants have higher nitrate concentrations than mature plants. However, mature plants can still have high nitrate concentrations if the species, environmental and soil conditions are favourable for nitrate accumulation.
- *Fertiliser application*: there is a direct relationship between the level of nitrogen fertiliser application and the nitrate content of the plants (Wehrmann, and Scharpf, 1989). Soils high in nitrogen readily supply nitrate to plants, and as a consequence soils which have been heavily fertilized/deep ploughed tend to produce crops with higher nitrate levels.
- *Growing conditions:* elevated levels tend to be found in crops growing in conditions that tend to limit the growth of the plant while still allowing for the uptake of nitrate. Drought, frost damage, cold temperatures, low light and treatment of crops with growth retarding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Occasional adverse effects result from stored hay or silage if they are allowed to heat up or are contaminated by bacteria or fungi (Spoelstra, 1985, 1987).



herbicides and shading have all been shown to result in higher than normal nitrate levels in some forages.

• *Plant species*: more than 80 plant species, which include a number of common agricultural crops that have been associated with nitrite poisoning, can accumulate nitrate to high levels under extreme conditions. These include maize (*Zea mays* L. ssp. *mays*), rape (*Brassica napus*), soybean (*Glycine max*), linseed (*Linum usitatissimum*), sorghum (Sorghum spp), millet (widely cultivated species from the genera (*Pennisetum, Setaria* and *Panicum*), wheat (*Triticum spp*), oats (*Avena sativa*) and barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and most weeds such as lamb's quarter (*Chenopodium album*), thistle (*Arctium, Carduus, Centaurea spp*), Jimson weed (*Datura stramonium*), fireweed ((*Epilobium angustifolium*), smartweed (*Polygonum hydropiperoides*), dock (*Rumex spp*), and Johnson grass (*Sorghum vulgare*) (The Merck veterinary manual, 2006).

Because of this range of factors and particularly the impact of fertiliser application rates, levels of nitrate in forage crops can vary widely, but normally remain within safe ranges. To illustrate the impact for common feeds and forages of different fertiliser application rates and harvesting regimens, resultant nitrate levels are shown in table 3 (adapted from Cash *et al.*, 2007).

Fertiliser application rates or harvesting regimens	NO <sub>3</sub> <sup>-</sup> (mg/kg)*
Oat hay at soft dough, 67 kg/ha	2149
Oat hay at soft dough, 134 kg/ha	5613
Barley hay at soft dough, 67 kg/ha	868
Barley hay at soft dough, 134 kg/ha	2627
First crop alfalfa, vegetative	1800
Second crop alfalfa, vegetative	3200
Fresh chopped maize (before ensiling)	4400

# Table 3. Nitrate concentrations in common feeds and forages after different fertiliser or harvesting regimens.

\* expressed on a dry matter (DM) basis

Levels of nitrate tend to be highest in the lower stems and leaves of plants, while very little is found in the seeds (table 2 and 3; Walker *et al.*, 1990; MAFF, 1998). As a result, forage crops - rather than cereal grains or oilseed meals - represent the greatest risk of diets exceeding the maximum permitted levels of nitrite (10 mg/kg, expressed as the nitrite ion) as specified in Council Directive 2002/32/EC.

Environmentally, the most significant source of nitrate and the cause for much of the higher levels noted in forages and groundwater is from the nitrogen in animal manure and fertiliser. When animal manures and fertilisers are repeatedly applied to limited areas of land, nitrates tend to build up in the soil, leach to groundwater, and are taken up by the roots of plants and deposited in plant tissues. Under many conditions, nitrates are degraded by plant enzymes to forms of nitrogen that pose little hazard to either the animal or to the environment in general. Nitrates tend to be highest in the plant parts nearest the ground as well as in stalks, stems and leaves (Robinson, 1999; EFSA, 2008a).

#### 4.1.2. Occurrence from use as a preservative

Nitrite is widely used as an approved food additive (Cammack *et al.*, 1999; EFSA, 2008a) in human and pet food. It has also been used as an additive for the preservation of animal feed, in particular fish meal and forages.

4.1.2.1. Fish meal

The use of sodium nitrite as a preservative was introduced in European fisheries in the 1940's because it was more effective than salt, which had been used until then. Initially the only recognised consequence of high levels of nitrite in feedingstuffs was a reduction of the content of vitamin A in the liver of consuming animals; no other adverse effects were reported at the time.

Subsequently, in the early 1960s, serious health effects were observed in livestock fed fish meal (Sakshaug *et al.*, 1965; Koppang, 1974). The toxic substance was identified as N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA), which is also carcinogenic. The addition of nitrite to fishmeal was identified as one of the factors associated with NDMA production via interaction with amino acids. Juszkiewicz *et al.*, (1980) analysed 465 samples of ingredients of fish meal, Antarctic krill meal and experimental silage containing 40 % dried animal wastes for nitrate and nitrite content in the period 1973-78. Over 62 % of the samples contained nitrates in concentrations ranging from 1 to 1020 mg/kg, and 6 % contained 1-15 mg/kg of nitrites. Of 171 selected samples, 40 % were found to contain also NDMA in the range of 0.003 to 0.417 mg/kg but no statistical correlation between concentrations of nitrates or nitrites and nitrosamines could be confirmed. Precursors, such as dimethylamine, have also been found in large amounts ranging from 110 to 1765 mg/kg, in all samples of krill meal (Juszkiewicz *et al.*, 1980).

An alternative method of preserving fish was developed, which involved the use of a combination of sodium nitrite and formaldehyde, and studies showed that this reduced NDMA levels significantly. However, its use declined and in 1993/94 the use of sodium nitrite as a preservative was forbidden. Today, preservation of fish caught at sea is achieved by a combination of the use of refrigerated seawater and acetic acid. As a result of changes in the method of preserving fish, analysis of nitrite in fishmeal is no longer given a high priority, and therefore limited data are available on current levels of nitrite in fishmeal. However in the absence of exogenously applied nitrite for preservation, the levels in fresh fish and derived fish meals are likely to be low (Andrew Jackson, International Fishmeal and Fish Oil Organisation, *personal communication*).

#### 4.1.2.2. Forages

Fresh forage crops such as maize, grasses, legumes, wheat and alfalfa can be preserved by ensiling, and are highly valued as animal feed. In order to preserve the crop successfully, it is important to achieve a good microbial fermentation. Frequently a chemical or microbial additive is applied to the crop at harvesting to improve the fermentation process, either to assist or augment the microorganisms that are naturally present, or restrict the activity of undesirable micro-organisms. This latter group include Enterobacteriaceae, which compete with beneficial bacteria for nutrients while reducing the quality of the protein in the forage. Sodium nitrite has been used as a forage additive to control these bacteria (Woolford *et al.*, 1978), but as a result of the development of more effective forage additives sodium nitrite is not now widely used.



The formation of volatile and non-volatile nitrosamines may also naturally occur in feeds other than fish meals when sodium nitrite is added as preservative (Juszkiewicz, *et al.*, 1980) The fermentation in silages of naturally nitrate rich forages (such as *Lollium perenne*), may lead to the formation of NMDA and nitrosodiethylamine up to 2  $\mu$ g/kg DM, With the stabilisation and the ventilation of the silages, the concentration of the most representative nitrosoamines is normally nearer to 0.6  $\mu$ g/kg DM (van Broekhoven and Davies, 1980).

#### 4.1.3. Occurrence in water

Levels of nitrite in water are laid down in Council Directive 98/83/EC with a maximum limit of 0.5 mg/L (EC, 1998).

Water is also a potentially significant source of nitrite for livestock via reduction of nitrate. Nitrate is extremely soluble in water and can move easily through soil into the drinking water supply. As a result, nitrate movement into surface and ground waters is of concern both for health and environmental quality reasons (Galloway *et al.*, 2003). Although naturally present in groundwater, elevated levels usually result from human activities such as overuse of chemical fertilizers or manures, improper disposal of human or animal excreta, and certain industrial processes. These fertilizers and wastes are sources of nitrogen, containing compounds which are converted to nitrate in the soil. According to a European Commission report (COM 120, 2007) on the implementation of Council Directive 91/676/EEC regarding the protection of waters from nitrate pollution in 15 countries of the EU from agricultural sources for the period 2000-2003, it is not unusual for nitrate levels, to exceed 100 mg/L in groundwater, despite the upper EU limit set by the Drinking Water Directive of 50 mg/L.

# 4.1.4. Nitrite and Nitrate in feed - Data from Member States

In order to understand today's levels of exposure to nitrite by farmed livestock and fish within Europe, European countries were invited to provide information on levels of nitrite and nitrate in feeding-stuffs acquired as part of routine surveillance programmes. Data on levels of nitrite in 94 samples of feed were received from 3 European countries for the period 2002-2008. Slovenia was the only country also providing data on levels of sodium nitrate in 22 samples of feed for the period 2003-2007. Details of the origin of the samples are given in Table 4.

The analytical method used by the different Member States and the corresponding limits of detection (LODs) and limits of quantification (LOQs) are reported in Table 5.

Ion	Country	Number of samples analysed in year							
1011	Country	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	Total
	Cyprus			12	4	2	8	4	30
Nituita	France	12	6	1	8				27
INITILE	Slovenia		7	7	6	7	7	3	37
	Total	12	13	20	18	9	15	7	94
Nitrate	Slovenia		3	7	4	6	2		22

# Table 4.Origin and numbers of samples of animal feeding-stuffs analysed for nitrite<br/>and nitrate in the period 2002-2008 as reported by Member States.



Country	Occurrence data reported for	Method of analysis	LOD (mg/kg)	LOQ (mg/kg)
Cyprus	Nitrite	Colourimetric method Standard Methods for the examination of water and wastewater (20th edition, 1999) APHA method 4500 - NO2 - B	1	4
France	Nitrite	Spectrophotometry (Analyse par spectrométrie d'absorption moléculaire; Issue de la norme pour le dosage des nitrites dans les eaux NF EN 26777).	-	2
Slovenia	Nitrite / Nitrate	AOAC 968.07, 1995, Ch. 4, p. 14	2	5

# Table 5.Method of analysis for nitrite and nitrate and limits of detection (LOD) or<br/>limits of quantification (LOQ) per country.

Tables 6 and 7 provide summary statistics (average, median and maximum values), for each country and for each of the main feed commodity groups, of the data provided for nitrite and nitrate content, respectively. In the same tables, information on the number of samples that exceeded the LOD or the LOQ and, in the case of nitrite, above the permitted MLs, was also reported. Only 23 samples out of 94 exceeded the LODs or LOQs, no samples above the MLs for nitrite were detected. The highest levels of nitrite and nitrate were detected in fodder in Slovenia, of 6.7 and 58.4 mg/kg on average, respectively.

						Samples			
Feed commodity group	Country	ML nitrite (mg/kg)	Mean (mg/kg)	Median (mg/kg)	Maximum (mg/kg)	No	> LODs or LOQs	> MLs	
Complementary feed*	Slovenia	-	0.7	0.7	0.7	3	0	-	
Complete feed	Slovenia	10	2.5	1.6	7.9	15	4	0	
Fish - Complete feed	Cyprus	-	0.3	0.3	0.3	13	0	-	
	Cyprus	40	1.6	0.3	11.3	17	4	0	
Fishmeal	France	40	1.4	1.0	11.2	27	8	0	
	Slovenia	40	2.5	2.5	2.5	3	0	0	
Forage	Slovenia	-	6.7	3.5	26.2	7	4	-	
Other feed	Slovenia	-	2.6	1.7	6.5	9	3	-	
Total						94	23	0	

Table 6.	Total	levels	of	nitrite	in	mg/kg	reported	by	country	for	main	feed
	comm	odities	in c	omparis	on v	with max	<mark>timum lim</mark> i	its.				

MLs: Maximum limit for nitrite in feed (mg/kg); Mean; mean value for nitrite in feed (mg/kg); Median: median value for nitrite in feed (mg/kg); Maximum: maximum value for nitrite in feed (mg/kg); No: Number of samples analysed for nitrite in feed (moisture content of 12 %) in the period 2002-2008. > LOD or LOQs: Number of samples that exceeded the Limit of Detection (LOD) or Limit of Quantification (LOQ); > MLs: Number of samples that exceeded maximum Limits (MLs). \*Complementary feed: a mixture with a high content of certain substances, which, because of their composition, is only sufficient for a daily ration if used in combination with other feedingstuffs.



Feed commodity group		Nitrate (mg/k	:g)	No. of samples	> LODs or LOQs
	Mean	Median	Maximum		
Complementary feed	31.3	31.3*	47.3	2	2
Complete feed	8.6	7.9*	19.6	2	2
Forage	58.4	1.8	394.1	6	4
Other feed	13.0	1.8	40.6	7	2
Total	22	12		22	12

# Table 7. Total levels of nitrate in mg/kg reported by Slovenia for main feed commodities.

Mean: mean value for nitrate in feed (mg/kg); Median: median value for nitrate in feed (mg/kg); Maximum: maximum value for nitrate in feed (mg/kg); \*Median values based on only 2 samples; No: Number of samples analysed for nitrate in feed (moisture content of 12 %) in the period 2003-2007; >LOD or LOQs: Number of samples that exceeded the Limit of Detection (LOD) or Limit of Quantification (LOQ).

#### 5. Estimating nitrite intake in feed by farm livestock

Exposure to nitrite has been estimated in livestock based on the maximum authorised levels of nitrite in feed (10 mg/kg). Water, as a source of nitrite, has also been estimated using the EU maximum limit of 0.5 mg/L to illustrate its possible contribution in comparison with feed. Estimates of feed intake are based on typical feeding regimens within Europe that have formed the basis of previous EFSA exposure estimates in livestock. Table 8 illustrates the likely exposure of monogastric livestock to nitrite given complete feed and according to the above assumptions.

# Table 8.Estimated exposure of monogastric livestock to nitrite from feed and water<br/>given a diet containing the maximum permitted sodium nitrite concentration<br/>(15 mg/kg) expressed as nitrite ion (10 mg/kg) and water at the EU maximum<br/>limit value.

		Consur	nption	Nitrite int	ake from
Species	Live weight	total complete feed	Water	total complete feed <sup>1</sup>	water <sup>2</sup>
	kg	kg/day	l/day	mg/kg b.w	. per day
Pigs	100	3.7	10	0.37	0.05
Sows	250	6.5	25	0.26	0.05
Poultry (broilers)	2.1	0.15	0.02	0.71	0.001
Poultry (laying hens)	1.9	0.115	0.02	0.61	0.001
Fish	4.5	0.09	30	0.20	3.33

<sup>1</sup> Nitrite in total complete feed assumed equal to 10 mg/kg; <sup>2</sup> Water contribution using the EU maximum limit value of 0.5 mg/L is given for comparative purposes .

Table 9 illustrates the predicted exposure of ruminants to nitrite given compound feed containing the maximum permitted nitrite concentration (10 mg/kg), forage at the maximum value reported by Slovenia (26.2 mg/kg) (Table 6), and water at the EU maximum value for nitrite (0.5 mg/L).

Table 9.Estimated exposure of ruminants to nitrite from feed and water where the<br/>diet contains the maximum permitted sodium nitrite concentration (15<br/>mg/kg) in compound feed and the maximum reported concentration in<br/>forage, expressed as nitrite (Table 6). These calculations assume typical<br/>livestock feed and represent a worst-case scenario.

		C	onsumptio	n	Nitrite intake from			
Species	Live weight	Forages	Compoun d feed	Water	Forages <sup>1</sup>	Compoun d feed <sup>2</sup>	Water <sup>3</sup>	
	Kg	kg/day	kg/day	l/day	mg	/kg b.w. j	per day	
Dairy cow	625	14.0	10.0.	120	0.59	0.18	0.10	
Suckler cow	550	11.0	5.0.	60	0.52	0.10	0.05	
Cattle	300	7.0	1.0	30	0.61	0.04	0.05	
Lactating ewe	70	1.5	0.3	15	0.56	0.05	0.11	
Growing lamb	20	0.45	0.15	5	0.59	0.09	0.13	
Dairy goats	65	1.50	0.7	15	0.60	0.12	0.12	

ML = Maximum limit; DM = Dry Matter;<sup>1</sup> Nitrite intake from forages using the maximum value of 26.2 mg/kg DM reported by Slovenia (Table 6); <sup>2</sup> Nitrite intake from compound feed, using 11.36 mg nitrite/kg DM, (10.0 mg/kg for a feed with a moisture content of 12 %); <sup>3</sup> Nitrite in water assumed equal to 0.5 mg/l.

Exposure to nitrite in grazing animals may also arise from soil ingestion and such exposure has been estimated to vary between 1 - 18 % of the feed dry matter intake (Thornton and Abraham, 1983).

Nitrate concentrations in common feeds and forages after different fertiliser and harvesting regimens can be high (Table 3). Overall, inter-conversion of nitrate constitutes the major source of nitrite intake in farm animals particularly in ruminants. However, the limited data reported from Slovenia (table 7) showed that the maximum nitrate levels were more than 10-fold lower and ranged from 20 mg/kg in complete feed to 394 mg/kg in forages.

Considering the evidence presented in Section 6 below, the most sensitive species of livestock are pigs and cattle (as ruminants). The overall nitrite exposure from feed was found to be 0.37 mg/kg nitrite b.w. per day in pigs (Table 8) and 0.65 mg/kg nitrite b.w. per day in cattle (Table 9). Such exposure would rise to 0.42 and 0.70 mg/kg nitrite b.w. per day in pigs and cattle respectively taking into account water intake at the maximum EU limit value of 0.5 mg/L.

# 6. Adverse effects in livestock, fish and pets

Feed and water constitute the main source of exposure both to nitrite and nitrate in animals, which at excessive levels may cause adverse effects in livestock, fish and pets (Stoltenow and Lardy, 1998). The main acute toxicity endpoint of excess nitrite in a wide range of farm animals (cattle, sheep, swine, dogs, chickens and turkeys) is methaemoglobinemia, especially in the young. Not only is the acute toxicity of nitrate approximately ten-fold less than that of nitrite, but there is also a general consensus that this 10-fold ratio extends to the potential for methaemoglobin formation (NIOSH, 1987). Whereas nitrite is active directly, nitrate has to be inter-converted to nitrite and this kinetic aspect helps to explain why higher levels of dietary nitrate intake cannot simply be predicted to add to the nitrite burden *per se*.

In monogastric animals, with the exception of rats and mice, an important source of nitrite is dietary nitrate that is systemically absorbed, secreted into the saliva and then reduced to nitrite via nitrate reductase activity due to bacteria in the oral cavity and tongue (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993; Djekoun-Bensoltane *et al.*, 2007). Such conversion is pH (alkali) dependent and therefore does not normally occur in the stomach of most monogastric animals due to relative acidity (pH < 3.5) (Wright and Davison, 1964; Mirvish, 1975). In contrast, the rumen of ruminants and the enlarged caecum and colon of horses are especially suited for nitrate reduction due to the dense microbial population and a relatively high pH (> 5) (Wright and Davison, 1964; Sen *et al.*, 1969; Mirvisch *et al.*, 1975). Since herbivorous species, and in particular ruminants, feed on diets containing high levels of nitrate they are potentially one of the most sensitive species to nitrite poisoning due to their innate ruminant ability for microbial conversion of nitrate to nitrite . However, under normal circumstances problems do not occur as the resultant nitrite is rapidly removed via bacterial fermentation for anabolism to produce ammonia, amino acids and proteins.

Nitrate  $\longrightarrow$  Nitrite  $\longrightarrow$  Ammonia  $\longrightarrow$  Amino acids  $\longrightarrow$  Proteins

An important aspect for the chronic ingestion of nitrate and nitrite in ruminants is the progressive and relatively rapid adaptation of the gut and the flora of the rumen, which aids tolerance by increasing the detoxification of nitrite to ammonia under different loadings. For this dynamic reason, a reproducible conversion factor is not available. In certain circumstances nitrite accumulation can occur when nitrate is converted to nitrite faster than nitrite is converted to ammonia. Consequently, when exceptionally high amounts of nitrate (and potentially nitrite) are consumed, an overload of nitrite may occur in the rumen. Nitrite is then absorbed into the bloodstream, which, via nitric oxide metabolites, converts haemoglobin to methaemoglobin (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993).

The susceptibility to nitrate-nitrite intoxication in animals is also modulated by the activity of the nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) dependent reductase, an erythrocyte cytosolic and membrane enzyme that converts methaemoglobin back to haemoglobin. Its relative activity, shows large inter-species variability and has been estimated as a percentage of the activity of the human form for pigs (27 %), horses (63 %), cattle, cats and goat (90 %), dog (114 %), sheep (150 %), and rabbit (452 %) (Kuehnert, 1991): this helps to explain the relative sensitivity of pigs. Intra-species differences, particularly in different breeds of dogs, cats and horses, have been shown together with congenital defects in enzyme. Age-related differences in the activity of this enzyme have also been reported particularly in neonatal and old animals (Harvey, 2006).

Another factor affecting the susceptibility to nitrite exposure in foetuses and neonatal animals is the expression of foetal haemoglobin, which has a higher affinity for oxygen and hence forms methaemoglobin more readily compared to the adult form (WHO, 2007).

Thus, nitrite/nitrate intoxication in animals is generally related to different exposure scenarios, together with age and digestive tract differences between monogastrics, ruminants, caecal/colonics, rodents, and differing physiological sensitivity resulting from differences in methaemoglobin reductase activity. It is important to note that nitrate levels are relatively high in stalk and leaves compared to seeds, and animals mainly fed on forages are thus exposed to nitrate intakes to a higher extent than animals fed on seeds. As a consequence,



poultry and to a lesser extent pigs, gain negligible nitrite/nitrate intake from feed, and the larger dietary contribution is from water (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993).

Endogenous production of nitrite/nitrate has been reported in cattle as result of bacterial endotoxin exposure since the latter induces nitric oxide synthase. This effect has been shown to be enhanced when arginine supplementation is used in feeds and as then blood nitrate levels can be raised from < 5 up to 9 NO<sub>3</sub> µmol /L (Hüsler and Blum, 2001).

The observed adverse effects of nitrite in livestock range from acute to chronic, with various degrees of severity. Clinical signs of acute toxicity predominate and, with symptoms such as accelerated pulse, dyspnoea, muscle tremors, weakness, vomiting, unstable gait, cyanosis and death, are generally due to methaemoglobinemia. Signs of sub-chronic and chronic toxicity include reduction in feed intake, reduction of milk production in dairy animals, rough hair, weight loss or no weight gain, Vitamin A (in rat, pigs, poultry, sheep) (WHO, 2007) and vitamin E reductions, reduced fertility and abortion. Abortion has been correlated with foetal hypoxia due to methaemoglobinemia, low fertility has been associated with nitrite-induced deficiency in vitamin A, and reduced steroidogenesis via mitochondrial nitric oxide production, alteration of cytochrome P450 enzyme activity gene expression and thus transcription or translation of the steroid acute response protein (SARP) (Guillette and Edwards, 2005). Anti-oxidants (ascorbic acid, methionine and vitamins A and E) reduce nitrite toxicity, and are thought to trap possible nitrogen free radicals produced as a consequence of nitrite and/or nitrate metabolism; on the other hand, pro-oxidant substances may enhance nitrite induced toxicity. Goitrogenicity of nitrite has been reported only in poultry whereas nitrate has been shown to have this effect on different species i.e. swine, sheep, cattle, resulting from inhibition of iodine uptake from the thyroid gland due to nitric oxide and reduced activation of the cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) pathway involved in thyroid hormone bio-synthesis (Bazzara et al., 2007).

The severity of the intoxication from nitrite exposure may also depend on other factors such as dietary status, sudden changes in diet composition (i.e. from grains to leafy forages) or the presence of metal ions and sulphur compounds in the diet that may enhance/inhibit the reduction of nitrate to nitrite.

Antibiotics may also influence the salivary and in general gastro-intestinal formation of nitrite from nitrates due to their impact on the bacterial flora: broad spectrum antibiotics formerly used in animal production have been proven to limit nitrite formation, with possible consequences on mucosal defences against fungal and bacterial pathogens (Dougall *et al.*, 1995). On the other hand, the administration of formerly EU licensed ionophoric polyethers Monensin and Lasalocid (Rumensin® and Bovatec®) as feed additives (currently in use in the USA) respectively, increased the production of nitrite in the rumen with the potential to lead to intoxication (Malone, 1978; Rogers and Jope-Cawdery, 1980; Slenning *et al.*, 1991; Goelz, 2002).

Although the legislation expresses maximum nitrite content in mg/kg relative to a feedingstuff with a moisture content of 12 %, to compare published studies and to calculate exposure on a body weight basis, all the following data have been standardised to nitrite on a 100 % dry matter basis.

Viewed overall for livestock, differences in gastro-intestinal physiology between monogastric and ruminants, together with a wide variety of husbandry practices, dietary regimens and possible aggregate exposures from soil, water, feed and forages, do not allow the derivation of



clear dose-response relationships for the toxicity of nitrite and nitrate in livestock, as is the case for well controlled laboratory animal studies.

Moreover, literature reports of livestock intoxication due to nitrite are scarce, and most scientific publications have either been devoted to nitrate or to combined nitrate and nitrite exposures. Because of the inter-conversion of nitrate to nitrite studies involving nitrate have also been included in the following sections to illustrate the potential for adverse effects both qualitatively and quantitatively and to help fill data gaps where no data on nitrite exists. Some studies involved feedingstuffs containing endogenous nitrite or nitrate whereas other studies involved the dosing of the chemicals *per se*. The findings were then used to approximate the lowest observed adverse effect levels (LOAELs) for the direct nitrite content of the diet. Where no nitrite exposure data existed nitrite was estimated on the basis of nitrate exposure assuming a 10-fold ratio in acute toxicity between nitrite and nitrate. NOAELs were also estimated for the different livestock species using an uncertainty factor of 3 to convert LOAELs to NOAELs. Where lethal dose (LD<sub>50</sub>) data are the only figures available, the LOAEL was estimated to be 10 % of the LD<sub>50</sub> value.

#### 6.1. Ruminants

#### General aspects

Nitrite poisoning in ruminants is uncommon. Moreover, the threshold levels for nitrite/nitrate in feed able to cause acute and/or chronic adverse effects in animals are difficult to determine because of the difficulty in tracking all sources of nitrite exposure, including inter-conversion from nitrate. Breed sensitivity, age, health and physiological status, the timing and length of exposure and the progressive adaptation of the gastro-intestinal flora to high levels of nitrite /nitrate in feed are also important factors to consider when assessing toxicity of nitrite (Brunning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993).

Nitrate contained in milk replacers fed to calves (monogastric at this age) can be converted to nitrite in the stomach if the pH of the gastric fluid is sufficiently high (above pH 5). Calves exposed to water that is highly contaminated with bacteria are particularly sensitive to nitrite/nitrate toxicity. Drinking water containing both high nitrate levels and significant coliform contamination (> 10 colony-forming units (CFU)/ 100 mL), able to reduce nitrate to nitrite has a greater potential to affect health adversely and to lower productivity than do either nitrate or bacteria alone. A high-producing dairy cow may drink over 120 L/day of water when farmed at + 27°C (Grant, 2000; Waldner and Looper, 2001). Silages and hay may contain over 200 mg/kg nitrite on a dry weight basis as "background levels" and close monitoring by farmers is normal to prevent outbreaks of intoxication (van Broekhoven and Davies, 1982; Strickland et al., 2008). On the basis that silages and hay may account for 50 % or more of the dry feed intake in ruminants, a theoretical complete feed for such animals could considerably exceed the regulatory limit of 9.15 mg/kg nitrite on a 12 % moisture basis corresponding to 10.1 mg/kg on a dry matter basis, even if the nitrite contribution from complementary feeds was negligible. However as shown in Table 2, the levels that are generally considered to be safe for mixed feeding do in fact considerably exceed these "background level" figures showing the conservative nature of this estimate compared with the farm experience.

#### Adult cattle

No specific studies are available that report quantitatively nitrite exposure and toxicity in adult cattle although a range of studies refer to nitrate intoxication and methaemoglobinemia.

The LD<sub>50</sub> for nitrate in cattle has been estimated by Bradley *et al* (1940) as 330 mg/kg b.w. when administered via drenching; compared with 990mg/kg b.w. for exposure from feed. Nitrate toxicity was reported in cattle fed on maize stalks, oat straw or weedy pasture and according to occurrence data from 803 forages analysed during outbreaks of death in Oklahoma, the mean nitrate levels in the feed ranged from 6,000 to 14,000 mg/kg dry weight (Edwards and McCoy 1980). Rogers (1999) suggested that feeds with 5600-9400 mg/kg nitrate dry matter should be restricted to <25 % of the total ration for cattle and that water levels higher than 220 mg nitrate/L should be avoided. Water levels >656 mg nitrate /L should be regarded as lethal. For growing cattle, with a water intake of 30 L per day and a feed intake of 2 kg dry weight per day (25 % intake as recommended above), total nitrate levels of 6,600 mg in water and 11,200 mg in feed can be estimated. This would approximate to 37.3 mg/kg b.w. per day for a 300 kg growing cattle from feed intake only.

# Dairy cows

Adverse effects data on nitrite poisoning in dairy cows are scarce and most of the literature available is on nitrate or combined exposure from nitrite/nitrate.

**Nitrate and Nitrite data:** stillborn or blind calves showing hydroperitoneum, lung oedema, ascites and haemorrhages in the gastro-intestinal system of four calves at autopsy were described as a consequence of chronic cumulative exposure to nitrite and nitrate in feeds and water of pregnant dairy cows. Levels of exposure in these cows ranged from 685 to 2,136 mg/kg DM and from 19.7 to 186 mg/L, for nitrate, and from 4.9 to 65.8 mg/kg DM and from 1.1 to 5.4 mg/L for nitrite, respectively. Possible confounding effects, for instance the possibility of birth defects were considered and then excluded (Ozmen *et al.*, 2005). Hence, for a 625 kg lactating dairy cow, with a daily intake of 24 kg DM and 120 L water, the lowest average level of nitrate exposure would result in an overall intake of 30 and 72 mg/kg b.w. per day from both feed and water sources. However, the authors discussed that the observed toxicity was due to chronic exposure to high nitrate levels which were approximately 100-fold above the nitrite level on a daily and body weight basis (Ozmen, 2005). Hence, a LOAEL for nitrite can not be derived from this study.

**Nitrate data**: abortion in pregnant cows has been observed sub-acutely between 2-21 days after the onset of exposure to nitrate at levels of 3,000 mg/kg DM in feed corresponding to approximately 115 mg/kg b.w. per day<sup>12</sup>. Some cows, which aborted, did not show any other signs of poisoning. In other cases reports of prolonged calving, stillbirth and birth of weak (soft) calves as consequence of acute, sub-acute or chronic nitrate poisoning in cows were also recorded and correlated with high levels of methaemoglobinemia recorded in still-born calves. Overall, the authors concluded that abortion was caused by a general state of hypoxia of the foetus, determined by the extensive methaemoglobin formation in the blood of the pregnant cow and foetus (Brunning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993). Haliburton and Edwards (1978) reported an abortion rate of 12.6 % on average in cows exposed to a mean 800 mg/kg DM nitrate in contaminated forages corresponding to approximately 30 mg/kg b.w. for a 625 kg cow, assuming a 24 kg DM intake.

# Calves

No studies on nitrite per se are available in calves.

**Nitrite and Nitrate data**: methaemoglobin formation and cyanosis were observed in calves (75 kg) after an oral administration in an aqueous solution of 2,600 mg and 18,300 mg of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Calculated using body weight of 625 kg a feed intake of 24 kg DM and 3 000 mg/kg DM nitrate in feed.

nitrite and nitrate corresponding to 34 mg/kg b.w. and 244 mg/kg b.w. per day respectively (Baranova *et al.*, 2000). In a previous study, no signs of toxicity were noted in animals exposed for six weeks to 1000-5000 mg per day nitrate intake via drinking water (Baranova *et al.*, 1999).

**Nitrate data**: nitrate levels of 320 mg/kg b.w. nitrate (equivalent to 10,000 mg/kg DM in feeds) consumed in feed over 4 hours, have been shown to cause adverse effects whereas a dose of 990 mg/kg b.w. was tolerated when consumed over 24 hours. During an 8-week study, 75 kg calves (12 males/group) receiving 1 kg artificial milk containing 5 - 133 mg/kg b,w nitrate per day (18 (control), 400, 2,000, 5,000 or 10,000 mg/kg in artificial milk) did not show adverse effects (growth pattern, weight gain, food conversion, biochemical blood parameters, or morphology of the liver and kidneys) (Berende *et al.*, 1977). These findings can be related to the lack of quantitative reduction of nitrate to nitrite in non- ruminant calves.

#### Sheep

As previously discussed for cows, the progressive adaptation of rumen flora to high nitrate content in forages and feeds influences the onset and gravity of the clinical symptoms seen in sheep. The majority of the following data relate to nitrite administration per se rather than as a component of feeding stuffs.

**Nitrite data:** Bartik and Piskac (1981) reported an oral lethal dose of nitrite in the range of 67-110 mg/kg b.w. Trif *et al.* (1993) showed that after a single oral administration of 83 mg/kg b.w. death occurred in all sheep while a single 50 mg/kg b.w. dose resulted in a rise of methaemoglobinemia up to 10 % at 4 hours from administration. The same nitrite dose administered over 7 days did not induce clinical signs of intoxication but the methaemoglobin concentration increased to 5.9 %. Over sixty days of treatment, a 10 mg/kg dose was still able to increase methaemoglobin concentration to 7 %.

**Nitrate and nitrite data**: Sinclair and Jones (1967) showed that single oral doses of nitrite at 64 mg/kg b.w. (approximately equivalent to 2,100 mg/kg DM) and 224 mg/kg b.w. nitrate (roughly equivalent to 7,500 mg/kg DM) were lethal. However equivalent doses were tolerated when administered over 24 hours; a situation more akin to normal dietary intake, excluding the feed matrix and thus still reflecting a worst-case scenario.

**Nitrate data**: a chronic dose of 260 mg kg b.w. nitrate per day (equivalent to 8,650 mg/kg feed on dry matter), had no immediate effect on sheep but deaths occurred 2-3 months later (Setchell and Williams 1968).

# 6.2. Pigs

Pigs under intensive farming conditions are usually fed on complete feeds based on cereals and grains which have very low natural nitrite levels and this normally obviates adverse effects from feed and water can be the greater problem. Pigs are also amongst the most sensitive species due to their low methaemoglobin reductase activities in red blood cells (Kuehnert, 1991).

**Nitrite data:** Muirhead and Alexander (1997) reported that a single oral dose of nitrite above 20 mg/kg b.w. was lethal to pigs. Wendt *et al.* (1985) described a lethal dose of 70 mg/kg b.w. Recent case reports on lethal nitrite intoxication in pigs through consumption of contaminated water with 78 g/L nitrite resulting in estimated lethal doses of 21 and 70 mg/kg nitrite b.w., for sows and weaning pigs respectively (Vyt *et al.*, 2005; Vyt and Spruitte, 2006).

Experimentally, Koch *et al* (1963) reported an increased formation of methaemoglobin in pigs fed a diet containing 150 mg/kg nitrite b.w. per day. A level of 100 mg/L nitrite in water, corresponding to approximately 10 mg/kg b.w. per day was sufficient to increase significantly methaemoglobin levels in treated pigs, however no clinical signs were observed and only at 20 % methaemoglobin do clinical signs become evident, starting with restleness and dyspnoea, and ending in ataxia, vomiting and cyanosis (Seerley *et al.*, 1965). This value of 10 mg/kg b.w. per day can be considered as the LOAEL for pigs. No teratogenic effects were observed in foetuses examined 10 days after sows were exposed to a treatment with 17.2 mg/kg b.w. nitrite, on days 15, 31, 32 and 33 of gestation (Sleight *et al.*, 1972).

**Nitrate:** methaemoglobinemia has also been described in pigs as a result of nitrite intake from the consumption of whey and the formation of nitrite from nitrate in a liquid cooked feed (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993).

# 6.3. Rabbits

**Nitrite data:** Dollahite and Rowe, (1974) experimentally induced acute toxicity in New Zealand White rabbits from an oral dose of 88 mg/kg b.w. per day nitrite for a 2.2 kg rabbit, fed on 0.13 kg DM per day. Violante *et al.* (1973) reported changes in urinary steroid excretion of rabbits as a time-dependent decrease in the urinary excretion of 17-hydroxy-, 17-keto- and 17-ketogenic steroid and caused by oral administration of 13.4 mg kg b.w. per day nitrite for 14 days. However, no methaemoglobinemia was noted.

# 6.4. Poultry

In poultry mostly fed seed-based grain, nitrite intoxication is rare, and is mostly caused by a contaminated water supply.

**Nitrite data**: Experimentally, a reduction in growth rate, an increase in the thyroid volume, and a higher death rate were seen in chickens fed a diet containing nitrite at dose of 75 mg/kg b.w. per day (Sells and Robert, 1963). Vitamin A supplementation resulted in the reduction of such effects. Atef *et al.* (1991) reported bio-chemical evidence of altered liver and kidney function along with a compromised reactivity of the immune system in chicks fed 1,122 mg/kg DM nitrite and corresponding to 80 mg/kg b.w. per day for a 2.1 kg broiler fed on a 0.15 kg feed.

# 6.5. Fish

In fish, the intestinal route accounts for about two-thirds of the whole body nitrite uptake (Grosell and Jensen, 2000); the remaining part is absorbed through the gills. No experimental data were available on exposure to nitrite via feeds; however, large amounts of unconsumed feed may result in high nitrite concentrations in water, as a result of the breakdown and fermentation. Factors that affect the nitrification process include pH, temperature, concentration of dissolved oxygen, number of nitrifying bacteria (such as those belonging to the *Nitrobacter* family), and the presence of inhibiting compounds, such as antibiotics. The formation of methaemaemoglobin results in the blood of the fish turning from red to a dull brown; this can be seen when examining the gills. Nitrite intoxication outbreaks have been described in fish (i.e. catfish) farmed in ponds or in aquaculture with water recycling facilities (Svoboda *et al.*, 2005). Due to the competitive uptake with chloride, nitrite is generally less toxic in seawater than in freshwater, where salmonids have been found to be the most sensitive species (Bath and Eddy, 1980). Fish with high branchial chloride uptake rates (e.g. rainbow trout, perch, pike) were also shown to be more sensitive to nitrite than fish with low

uptake rates (eel, carp, tench) (Williams and Eddy, 1986). Other factors influencing the nitrite toxicity in fish is the oxygen concentration in water and the pH; oxygen concentration above 5 ppm in water could mitigate the hypoxia, while pH values below 6 may enhance the nitrite toxicity. For carp, 80 mg/L is considered to be the maximum admissible nitrate concentration in surface water, while 20 mg/L represent the threshold level for rainbow trout (Svoboda *et al.*, 2005). For nitrite, in farmed tilapia the median lethal concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>) of nitrite at 96h was 28.18 mg/L in water with low chloride content (35.0 mg/L) and 44.67 mg/L with high chloride content (70.0 mg/L, respectively) (Yanbo *et al.*, 2006). In farmed trout, EFSA (2008b) recommended that nitrite levels in water should be below 0.1 mg/L.

# 6.6. Horses

Horses do not convert nitrate to nitrite efficiently and, are thus are less susceptible to poisoning compared with ruminants. No specific data on **nitrite** toxicity are available. **Nitrate:** methaemoglobinemia has been induced in two horses after a single dose administration of 50 g as nitrate per horse, approximately equivalent to 100 mg/kg nitrate b.w. per day and 3,300 mg/kg DM for a 500 kg b.w. animal, with a 15 kg DM daily intake. The onset of the signs appeared within 11-21 hours from the intake. The dose of 100 g resulted in lethality, and was associated with a methaemoglobin of 70 % (Bradley, 1940). Horses are not ruminants and therefore they have less opportunity to further convert nitrite to safer forms such as ammonia.

# 6.7. Fur animals

No specific data on nitrite and nitrate toxicity are available in fur animals. Intoxication in mink and foxes due to the intake of fermented/degraded fish meals, has been extensively reviewed (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993). This occurred in former times due to the formation of nitrosamines in fish meal induced by the addition of sodium nitrite as a preservative (Bruning-Fann and Kaneene, 1993). The production of nitrosamines was encouraged by the acidic pH of the meal, that allowed the formation of N-nitroso compounds with NDMA as major product. This occurs, through the reaction of nitrite with naturally occurring secondary and tertiary amines, nitrogen oxides and quaternary nitrogen compounds. The toxicity observed was not related to methaemoglobinemia formation, but to a direct liver toxicity of dimethylnitrosamine. The first symptoms were restleness, fur dryness, then, progressive inappetence and ascites, leading animals to death (Koppang, 1966).

# 6.8. Cats and dogs

**Nitrite toxicity**: Michalsky (1963) reported methaemoglobin induction in dogs after oral exposure to nitrite at doses ranging from 7.9 - 19.8 mg/kg b.w. per day with a minimum lethal dose of 40 mg/kg b.w. per day.

**Nitrate data**: a NOAEL of 370 mg/ kg b.w. of nitrate has been established from a subchronic toxicity study in dogs (Lehman, 1958; Walker, 1990).

In cats, acute toxicosis with death due to extensive methaemoglobin formation has been reported in three animals fed on a canned feed containing on average 2,850 mg /kg nitrite (Worth *et al.*, 1997). No effects on the growth rate or on the weight of important organs were noted in one cat receiving 105 mg/kg b.w. of sodium nitrite (69 mg/kg b.w. as nitrite) during a period of 105 days (approximately 390 mg/kg in the daily diet) (JEFCA, 1974).

The literature reviewed above indicates that with the acknowledged limitations, the values reported in Table 12 may be considered as reasonable approximations of LOAELs and NOAELs for a range of livestock and companion animals.

Table 12.	LOAELs and	estimated	NOAELs	derived	from	the	lowest	exposure	to
nitrite (or nit	rate) reported t	to induce to	oxicity in liv	vestock a	nd co	mpa	nion sp	ecies.	

Species	Substrate	Toxic endpoint	LOAEL mg/kg b.w. per day	NOAEL <sup>1</sup> mg/kg b.w. per day	References
Cattle*	Nitrate in feed (estimated to nitrite)	Not stated (MHb)	9.9	3.3 <sup>2</sup>	No data for nitrite, extrapolated from nitrate using factor of 10, and from LD <sub>50</sub> using a factor of 10
Calves	Nitrite per se	MHb	34	11	Baranova et al., 2000)
Sheep	Nitrite per se	Not stated (MHb)		10	Trif et al., (1993)
Growing Pigs	Nitrite in feed	MHb	10	3.3	Koch <i>et al.</i> , (1963) Seerley <i>et al.</i> , (1965)
Sows	Nitrite per se	Lack of developmental defects		17.2	Sleight <i>et al.</i> , (1972)
Rabbits	Nitrite per se	Urinary hormone excretion changes	13.4	4.5	Violante et al., 1974
Poultry	Nitrite per se	Liver and kidney function	75	25	Sells and Roberts, 1963
Horses*	Nitrate in feed (estimated to nitrite)	MHb	10	3.3	No data for nitrite, extrapolated from nitrate using factor of 10
Cats	Nitrite in food	MHb	69	23	JEFCA, 1974
Dogs	Nitrite per se	MHb	7.9	2.6	Michalsky, 1963
Fish (trout)**	Nitrite per se	MHb		0.1 <sup>3</sup>	(EFSA, 2008b)

\* Estimated from feed exposure to nitrate using a 10:1 ratio for nitrite:nitrate ratio- \*\*Data referred to one animal, \*\*\*Data reported on water, <sup>1</sup>A safety factor of 3 is applied to the LOAEL to derive the NOAEL value, <sup>2</sup>based on nitrate LD<sub>50</sub>, <sup>3</sup>mg/L, MHb; methaemoglobinemia,

The adverse effects of nitrite as demonstrated by the LOAELs derived in different livestock and companion animals (Table 12) broadly lie in the same range allowing for the different species sensitivities already discussed. Interpretation of the data is restricted as some findings relate to bolus administration of the nitrite or nitrate *per se*, whereas other studies relate to the nitrite and or nitrate resulting from that contained within the feedingstuff. The latter scenario generally results in less toxicity and is more akin to the normal feeding and drinking habits of farmed livestock. However, the consequence of bolus dosing could be considered as the most conservative scenario. Of the food producing livestock, cattle and pigs are known to be relatively sensitive to nitrite. This is at least partially explained by physiological factors, *vide supra* and confirmed by the figures estimated as NOAELS shown in Table 12.

# 7. Toxicokinetics

The toxicokinetics of nitrite together with a brief summary of nitrate is discussed in this section. For a more complete report, the reader is referred to the CONTAM Panel opinion on nitrate in vegetables (chapter 8.1) (EFSA, 2008a).



# 7.1. Absorption

The rate of absorption of nitrite and nitrate varies between species being relatively high in humans and rats but it is lower in ruminants and both are quantitatively well absorbed from the stomach and upper intestine/rumen.

For example, in humans, 90-95 % of orally administered sodium nitrite is absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and an average 25-fold increase in plasma nitrate was found 10 min after ingestion of nitrate (EFSA, 2008a). It has also been estimated that in humans approximately 25 % of an ingested nitrate dose is secreted in the saliva (Bartholomew and Hill, 1984), and that from 20 to 46 % of this, 25 % is reduced to nitrite by oral micro-organisms (Spiegelhalder *et al.*, 1976; Packer *et al.*, 1989).

In dogs, large amounts of nitrate are secreted in saliva and bile (Fritsch *et al.*, 1985). However in the rat, nitrate is mainly secreted in the gastric and intestinal fluid by entero-systemic recirculation (EFSA, 2008a).

Non-ruminants, such as horses and pigs, convert nitrate to nitrite in the intestine closer to the end of their digestive tracts with a minor absorption of nitrite (Yaremcio, 1991). In ruminants, only about 10-20 % of nitrite and nitrate present in the rumen pass into the blood stream as nitrite, while the rest of the nitrite and nitrate is metabolized by the microorganisms to ammonia. The ammonia is utilized by rumen microflora or eliminated with other gases during eructation and the remainder is absorbed in considerable quantities directly into the blood (Lewis, 1951; Winter, 1962; Wang *et al.*, 1961). Absorbed nitrate can also be recycled into the rumen via saliva (Schneider and Yeary, 1975; Yaremcio, 1991). Salivary, biliary, pancreatic or direct intestinal secretions of nitrate may also contribute to the pool of nitrate present in the small and large intestines (Witter *et al.*, 1979a, 1979b).

When high levels of nitrate are consumed (eg from contaminated water), normal microbial conversion of nitrate to nitrite and assimilation post-absorption can be overwhelmed resulting in excessive nitrite absorption and resultant metHb formation.

#### 7.2. Distribution

Once absorbed, nitrite is rapidly distributed in the plasma with rapid binding to the erythrocytes (Schneider and Yeary, 1975; Dejam *et al.*, 2007). At excessive levels of absorption or nitrite formation, nitric oxide formation can also result in methaemogobinaemia.

Interspecies differences in the volume of distribution of nitrite have been found in the dog, sheep and pony with respective values of 1624, 278 and 192 ml/kg b.w., respectively after intravenous administration of 20 mg/kg sodium nitrite b.w. (Schneider and Yeary, 1975). In a recent study in twenty humans, 0.11 mg/kg/min nitrite over five 5 min was administered intravenously and a volume of distribution at steady state of 5.2 L and 25.2 L were determined (Dejam *et al.*, 2007). *In vitro* studies investigated protein binding in canine plasma and the extent of nitrite-protein binding was dose related and ranged from 4.5 to 13.6 % bound within 5 to 25  $\mu$ g/min/ml sodium nitrite but not at higher concentrations (50 to 100  $\mu$ g/min/ml sodium nitrite 9.8 to 8.8 %. Less than 1 % of nitrate was bound to canine plasma within the whole dose range (5 to 100  $\mu$ g/min/ml) (Schneider and Yeary, 1975).

The volumes of distribution of nitrate reported for humans, ponies, sheep and goats are similar and amount to 210-330 ml/kg b.w. (Schneider and Yeary, 1975; Schultz *et al.*, 1985, Lewicki *et al.*, 1998; EFSA, 2008a).



#### 7.3. Metabolism

After binding to plasma and erythrocytes, nitrite, when present at normal levels is metabolised to nitrate in animals which is then metabolised to nitric oxide, which has a wide range of physiological functions. After transport to the stomach, the acidic conditions will rapidly transform nitrite to nitrous acid, which in turn spontaneously decomposes to nitrogen oxides including nitric oxide. Exogenous intake of nitrite/nitrate leads to nitric oxide in the upper intestine. These levels are up to 10,000 times higher compared with levels resulting from endogenous production of nitric oxide from L-arginine by nitric oxide synthases (McKnight *et al.*, 1997). In parallel, endogenous nitrate synthesis occurs through the L-arginine-NO synthase pathway. Endogenous conversion from nitrate also occurs in humans and is approximately 1 mg/kg b.w. per day for a 70 kg adult (EFSA, 2008a).

However with excessive uptake, nitrite can react with ferrous deoxyhaemoglobin (HbFe<sup>2+</sup>) in mammalian erythrocytes to generate methaemoglobin and nitric oxide (HbFe<sup>3+</sup>) and ironnitrosyl-haemoglobin (HbFe<sup>2+</sup>-NO) leading to the observed methaemoglobinaemia in animals and humans (Schneider and Yeary, 1975; Dejam *et al.*, 2007; Jensen, 2003). Additionally, an autocatalytic oxyhaemoglobin-nitrite reaction necessary to oxidize iron-nitrosylhaemoglobin and release free NO occurs (Gladwin *et al.*, 2009).

In the case of humans, dogs and mini-pigs, nitrate is concentrated from the plasma to the saliva and then the commensal bacteria present on the back tongue reduce approximately 20 % of the secreted nitrate to nitrite, which is then swallowed into the stomach. Nitrate is also secreted in the gut (EFSA, 2008a).

Non-ruminants, such as horses and pigs, convert nitrate to nitrite in the intestine closer to the end of their digestive tracts, reducing absorption into the blood and reducing likelihood of intoxications. However, these species are highly susceptible to oral nitrite intake (for example, in mouldy hay) because they cannot convert from nitrite to ammonia (Yaremcio, 1991). The significant role of alimentary tract micro-organisms in the metabolism of nitrate has been demonstrated in experiments with germ-free (monogastric) rats which excreted in urine approximately 20 % more nitrate than conventional rats (Schultz *et al.*, 1985).

In ruminants, nitrate is reduced to nitrite and ammonia by forestomach microorganisms that possess nitrate reductase activity (Lewicki *et al.*, 1998, Witter *et al.*, 1979a, 1979b, Hartman, 1982). However, heavy dietary loads of nitrate (higher than 65 mmol/rumen fluid) may overwhelm the ability of rumen microorganisms to completely degrade nitrate to ammonia and levels of nitrite, and intermediate compounds, may increase (Baranova *et al.*, 2003). Nitrite is toxic to cellulolytic bacteria (Marais *et al.*, 1988) and this can result in reduced digestibility of fibre in the rumen, which, in turn, will result in reduced feed intake and milk production. However, the ability of micro-organisms to completely break down nitrate to ammonia increases with the nitrate load. If nitrite production is so high that rumen microorganisms, breaking it down to ammonia, are overwhelmed, it will accumulate in the rumen, pass through the rumen wall to the blood and result in methaemoglobin formation (Robinson, 1999).

#### 7.4. Excretion

Nitrite is rapidly and extensively excreted in urine and thus does not accumulate in tissues. However, nitrate has a slower rate of excretion and the major part of the primary urinary nitrate (ca 80 %) is pumped back to the blood by an active transport mechanism. This salvaging of nitrate from the urine, in addition to the known recycling of nitrate from saliva



and also from the intestines (after biliary excretion) further suggests that the body is acting to conserve a substance of physiological importance (EFSA, 2008a).

In humans, mean clearance and inter-compartmental clearance for nitrite using a one compartment model were 0.948 and 0.67 L/min respectively, with a terminal half-life of 42 minutes (Dejam *et al.*, 2007).

Elimination kinetics of nitrite in the dog, sheep and pony were determined after intravenous administration of 20 mg sodium nitrite/kg b.w. and the elimination half-lives of nitrite were approximately 0.5 hours in the dog, sheep and pony (Schneider and Yeary, 1975). However, the clearance of nitrite in the dog was higher (38 ml/min/kg) than that in the pony (3.8 ml/min/kg) and in the sheep (4.1 ml/min/kg). The large clearance values for nitrite in the dog indicate that some process other than renal excretion, such as metabolic conversion of nitrite to nitrate by erythrocytes, contributed significantly. It has been reported that 80-90 % of the amounts of nitrate orally and intravenously administered to dogs as sodium nitrite were recovered in the urine (Greene and Hiatt, 1954). Thus, significant tubular reabsorption of nitrate in the dog probably occurs, as shown by the slow rate of elimination observed (Schneider and Yeary, 1975).

After a single oral administration of 60 mg/kg b.w. of aqueous sodium nitrite to calves on milk nutrition, the highest nitrite 7.8 mg/L and nitrate 289 mg/L values in urine were determined after 2 h. After the administration of 480 mg/kg b.w. of potassium nitrate, a mean value of 2540 mg/L nitrate was measured after 3 h. These results clearly demonstrate a good trans-renal passage of nitrite and nitrate in calves on milk nutrition (Baranova *et al.*, 2000).

# 8. Carry-over and residues

No trials have been located which describe the transfer of nitrite into animal products following normal feeding. However, the transfer of nitrates into the milk of dairy cows following nitrate loading with potassium nitrate at 2 -week intervals as single oral doses of 9.5, 18.75, 37.5, 75 and 150 g two hours before evening milking has been investigated. Nitrate residues were quantified in individual milk samples obtained from manual milking at time intervals of 2, 14, 26, 38 and 50 hours after application of potassium nitrate. Average values for nitrate residues in milk two hours after administration were low with 3.4, 4.5, 9.8, 15.6 and 34.6 mg of nitrate/L respectively (Baranova *et al.*, 1993).

Eleftheriadou *et al.* (2002) analysed nitrite and nitrate levels from 120 muscle samples from 5 slaughtered pig breeds. In addition, 20 feed samples and 20 water samples were analysed. Only trace amounts of nitrite, and low concentrations of nitrate were found in the samples (7.5-15.7 mg nitrate/kg in meat, 9.3 to 13.4 mg nitrate /kg in animal feed and from 28.0 to 65.2 mg nitrate/L in the water). However, there was no correlation between the nitrate quantity in feed and water and its concentration in meat.

Overall, data on the carry-over and residues of nitrite in animal tissues and animal-based products are very scarce. However, because of the rapid excretion of nitrite and nitrate, the likelihood of accumulation in animal tissues and animal-based products is considered to be low.

#### 9. Animal risk assessment

Based on published adverse effect data, NOAELs for nitrite have been estimated for monogastric and ruminant livestock (table 12). Physiologically, pigs and adult cattle represent sensitive livestock species with regard to nitrite exposure and NOAELs of 3.3 mg/kg b.w. per



day were estimated for both species (table 12). The nitrite intake for both species was also estimated using the maximum exposure level in complete feed based on the current legislation (10 mg/kg) and typical feeding regimens feed within Europe (table 8 and 9). In addition, the maximum level in forages from member states (Slovenia (26.2 mg/kg) was also taken into account to calculate exposure in cattle (table 9). Overall, nitrite intake from feed was 0.37 and 0.65 mg/kg b.w. per day in pigs and cattle which compared with the estimated NOAEL of 3.3 mg/kg b.w. per day gives margins of safety of 9 and 5 respectively. Overall, allowing for farmer awareness of the risk of nitrite poisoning in livestock from feed intake, these margins of safety over typical dietary intake are considered adequate to protect animal health.

Other important factors that farmers consider for good agricultural practices are the naturally high levels of nitrate in forages, silages, hays and in potentially contaminated water (wells, surface water contaminated with bacteria). Such high levels can potentially affect susceptible livestock groups on an acute basis and potentially on a cumulative basis, particularly in ruminants (pregnant cows, calves) because of the rumen conversion of nitrate to nitrite. However in the case of cattle, rumen adaptation plays a key role in the prevention of such adverse effects and dietary nitrite from feed is not considered to be a practical risk for animal health.

# **10.** Human intoxication

Nitrite causes methaemoglobinaemia, usually as a consequence of excessive nitrate exposure. While cases of methaemoglobinaemia have been widely reported particularly in infants, specific data relating to direct poisoning by nitrite *per se* are scarce. A case of human intoxication to nitrite in a 40 year-old mother and her child (9 years) was however recently described after the consumption of turkey contaminated with nitrite levels ranging from 6,000 to 10,000 mg/kg. This resulted in high levels of methaemoglobinaemia in the mother (32.7 %) and the child (62.3 %), 2 hours after consumption of the turkey. Five hours later, methaemoglobinaemia was back to normal levels in the mother (1.6 %) whereas in the child methaemoglobin levels were still above 20 % but returned to normal within 12 hours (2.3 %) (Matteucci *et al.*, 2008).

Five cases of methaemoglobinaemia (21 %-57 %) after ingestion of sodium nitrite occurred in Sydney in 2006. All cases were unintentional poisonings. Blood levels of nitrite were not reported (Maric *et al.*, 2008).

Intoxication of infants below 6 months due to high nitrate exposure are widely reported in the literature. Infants, particularly under 3 months of age, have a much greater susceptibility to metHb compared with adults due to a 40-50 % lower level of activity of NADH-cytochrome b5 methaemoglobin reductase which is responsible for converting metHb back to Hb. Additionally, gastro-enteritis can be another factor resulting in increased bacterial conversion of nitrate to nitrite (EFSA, 2008a). A case reported methaemoglobin levels of 27 % and 30.4 % in two infants from Italy, aged 1 and 2 months respectively, fed with a formula reconstituted with a high concentration of courgette soup to resolve constipation. Both were hospitalized after developing severe cyanosis and were treated with methylene blue at 1 %: after 12 h the syndrome was completely resolved (Savino *et al.*, 2006). Another study carried out in Spain assessed the causes of methaemoglobinemia in seven infants with levels ranging from 10 % to 58 % and in all cases these were associated to nitrituria in relation to consumption of mixed vegetables and incorrect storage of homemade purees. In this case, the highest levels of nitrite-forming nitrate were recorded in silver beets with 3200 mg/kg of the vegetable (Sanchez-Echaniz *et al.*, 2006).



#### 11. Human dietary exposure and risk assessment

Contributors to exogenous dietary nitrite intake in humans are vegetables and fruits, water, animal-based products, and other foods approximating a total dietary intake of between 1.5 and 2.0 mg/person/day (EFSA, 2008a). Using the UK dietary study, the contribution from non-preserved animal products (e.g. milk, fresh meat and eggs) is approximately 14 % of the total exogenous nitrite intake. However, the figures for exogenous nitrite intake are dwarfed by the nitrite endogenously generated from the dietary consumption of nitrate which by far represents the largest contributor (>80 %) to human nitrite pools resulting in a total combined exposure of some 7.3 mg nitrite/person/day.

Nitrite is also formed to a limited extent endogenously in different tissues and further oxidation can result in the production of nitrate (Lundberg *et al.*, 2004 and 2008; EFSA, 2008a).

Nitrite levels have not been reported in milk. Average concentrations of nitrate in dairy products were 27 mg/kg and in milk ranged from 3.9–5.3 mg/kg from the UK total diet study (MAFF, 1998). Other studies consistently reported nitrate levels in cows' milk and cheese, without nitrate additives, below 5 mg/L and 1–8 mg/kg respectively (MAFF, 1998; Walker *et al.*, 1990; Kammerer *et al.* 1992; Gangolli *et al.*, 1994).

Nitrite levels have not been found in detectable amounts in ten egg samples (Ologhobo *et al.*, 1996) and the average concentration of nitrate in eggs (4.4-5.4 mg/kg) was estimated in the United Kingdom total diet study to range from (range, undetected–12 mg/kg) (MAFF, 1998).

Concentrations of nitrite and nitrate in cured meat were 4.1 mg/kg (range, 1.5–8.4 mg/kg) and 45 mg/kg (range, 14–101 mg/kg) respectively. More specifically, nitrate levels in bacon, and other cured meat ranged from 1.4 to 440 mg/kg and from 0.2 to 450 mg/kg respectively (MAFF, 1998). In the USA, Cassens *et al.* (1997) found residual nitrite in 164 samples of cured meat in three trials showing average concentrations of 5–10 mg/kg (range, 0–48 mg/kg). Sausages (e.g. hot dogs) had a mean content of about 100 mg/kg nitrite and fried bacon and fried ham had about 35 mg/kg nitrite (National Academy of Sciences, 1981).

Total daily dietary exposure for both nitrate and nitrite were estimated and expressed as a percentage of the total diet, for the UK as an example of a Northern European country (MAFF, 1998) and France as an example of a Central/Southern European country (modified after Causeret, 1984). For both countries the largest source of nitrite is endogenous conversion from nitrate.

In the UK, nitrite dietary exposure, estimated by means of a total diet study, represents on average 1.5 mg per day per person. Fresh meat represents only 4 % of total intake, which along with other fresh animal products, milk and dairy products (6 %), eggs (3 %) and fish (1 %) combines to a total of 14 %. Other contributors include preserved meat products (19 %), vegetables and fruit (15 %), water (7 %). The remaining 47 % comes from other foods such as bread, cereals, oil and fats, sugar preserves, beverages and nuts (MAFF, 1998). Nitrate intake is much larger (91 mg per day per person) and is mostly through the consumption of vegetables (52 %), water (22 %), beer (12 %), other foods (6 %). Fresh meat, meat products, milk and dairy products, eggs only represent a minor fraction of nitrate exposure with respective values of 1 %, 3 %, 3 %, and 0.2 %. Overall the total nitrite exposure that includes endogenous conversion from nitrate exposure in the UK using a conservative factor of 7 % for the ingested conversion to nitrite intake, bioconversion of nitrate to nitrite represents some 82 % of the total nitrite intake.

From the French study, nitrite average dietary exposure represents 2 mg per person per day and is mainly through vegetables and fruit (41 %), animal-based products (39 %), water (14 %) and other food (4 %). Nitrate intake is 141 mg per day per person and mostly through the consumption of vegetables (75 %), water (14 %), animal-based products (4 %), beer (1 %), other foods (4 %). The conversion of nitrate to nitrite was approximately 9.3 mg per person per day representing 85 % of the total nitrite intake (11.3 mg per person per day) (EFSA, 2008a).

From these figures, the major source of human exposure to nitrite is the inter-conversion from nitrate in vegetables, cured meat products and water intake, which represents over 80 % of the total daily exposure. By contrast, direct exogenous nitrite intake from the diet constitutes less than 20 % with the major contributors being vegetables, fruits, water and other foods. Overall, levels in fresh animal-based products, fish, milk dairy products, and eggs only represent approximately 2.9 % of the total combined daily nitrite exposure. Such a small proportion of the total daily intake to nitrite does not raise any concern for human health.

#### **CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### CONCLUSIONS

#### Chemistry, occurrence in plants and feed materials

- Nitrite is formed naturally by the nitrogen cycle during the process of nitrogen fixation. It is subsequently converted to nitrate, a major nutrient assimilated by plants.
- Animal feed can contain nitrite from its natural plant constituents (generally very low levels), from microbial action in moist feeds/stored plant materials e.g. hay and silage, or when nitrite is added directly as a preservative. Nevertheless, the majority of nitrite exposure in livestock results from the endogenous inter-conversion of nitrate in feed and water into nitrite.
- Current European Union (EU) legislation for nitrite, Annex 1 of Council Directive 2002/32/EC, sets maximum limits for nitrite in complete feed for livestock of 15 mg/kg sodium nitrite (10 mg/kg nitrite at 12 % moisture) and 60 mg/kg in fish meal sodium nitrite (40 mg/kg nitrite). Under normal manufacturing/husbandry practice the concentration of nitrite in the majority of these feeds is likely to be well below these figures as confirmed by limited evidence from 3 Member States.
- No official analytical method for the determination of nitrite in animal feed is prescribed by EU legislation nor established by the European Committee of Standardization (CEN).

#### General toxicological effects

- The acute toxicity of nitrite is approximately 10-fold higher than that of nitrate. The main adverse effect related to acute toxicity of nitrite is methaemoglobinaemia occurring in both animals and man.
- Long-term toxicity of nitrite is associated with a dose-related trend (not statistically significant) for squamous cell papilloma or carcinoma in the forestomach of female mice with hyperplasia of the epithelium of the glandular stomach at the highest dose level in males.



• The acceptable daily intake (ADI) value for nitrite is 0-0.07 mg/kg body weight (b.w.) per day as established by the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives and endorsed in the recent risk benefit assessment of nitrate in vegetables by the Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM Panel).

#### Adverse effects of nitrite on live stock

- Nitrite poisoning in livestock generally only occurs due to metabolic overload in the presence of contaminated feed or water and is usually due to the presence of excessive nitrite inter-converted from nitrate. This can result from fermented silage or water polluted by animal waste, particularly in the presence of bacterial contamination. In animals, nitrate from feed and water are normally reduced to nitrite and converted to ammonia for anabolism to amino acids. This is an adaptive process.
- The adverse effects of nitrite in animals are dominated by methaemoglobin formation. At low exposure levels methaemoglobin is reversed by a nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide-dependent reductase, the activity of which shows large species and age dependent variations.
- Sensitive species of food producing animals include the pig, which has relatively low reductase activity in comparison with other species and cattle which are particularly susceptible due to their physiology enabling rapid rumen conversion of high levels of exogenous nitrate (e.g. from water pollution) to nitrite. No observable adverse effect levels (NOAELs) for pigs and cattle have been estimated from the literature with values of 3.3 mg/kg b.w. per day for both species.

#### Fate in animals and carry-over

- Due to the rapid metabolic turnover and excretion of nitrite and nitrate, the potential for accumulation in animal tissues is low. Residues of nitrate were found in muscle samples from 5 pig breeds ranging from 7.5 to 15.7 mg/kg. There was no correlation between the nitrate concentration in feed and water and its concentration in meat.
- Overall, there is very little quantitative information available on nitrite residues in animal products. However, any residues of nitrite in animal products are likely to be very low, compared to those arising from fruit and vegetables via the inter-conversion of nitrite.

#### Relevance to animal health

• Total nitrite intake for pigs and cattle from feed as representative sensitive food producing species was estimated using the maximum exposure level in complete feed from the current legislation (10 mg/kg) and typical feeding regimens within the EU. For cattle, the maximum nitrite level in forages from member states was also taken into account (Slovenia, 26.2 mg/kg). Overall, nitrite intake *per se* was 0.37 and 0.65 mg/kg b.w. per day for both pigs and cattle corresponding to margins of safety of 9 and 5 with respect to the respective NOAEL. The CONTAM Panel considered that such margins do not pose concerns for animal health given farmer awareness of nitrite poisoning and good agricultural practice.



#### Human exposure

• Human dietary exposure to nitrite is mostly through the inter-conversion of nitrate from vegetables, cured meat products, water intake which represents over 80 %, whereas exogenous nitrite intake from the diet constitutes less than 20 %. Overall, the levels in fresh meat, fish, milk dairy products, and eggs, only represent 2.9 % of the total combined daily nitrite exposure in man. Therefore, the CONTAM Panel concluded that such a contribution of nitrite from animal products does not raise any concern for human health.

#### RECOMMENDATION

Since the analytical methods measure the nitrite ion, it would be helpful to base any future legislation on the nitrite ion and not on sodium nitrite.



#### REFERENCES

- AOAC (Association of Official Analytical Chemists), 1995. AOAC official methods of analysis, 16th ed., Virginia, USA, 938-940.
- Andrade R, Viana CO, Guadagnin SG, Reyes FGR and Rath S, 2003. A flow-injection spectrophotometric method for nitrate and nitrite determination through nitric oxide generation. *Food Chemistry* 80, 597-602.
- Archer DB, 1985. Uncoupling of Methanogenesis from Growth of Methanosarcina barkeri by Phosphate Limitation. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 50 (5), 1233-1237.
- Atef M, Abo-Norage MA, Hanafy MS and Agag AE, 1991. Pharmacotoxicological aspects of nitrate and nitrite in domestic fowls. *Br Poult Sci.* 32 (2), 399-404.
- Balimandawa M, Demeester C and Leonard A, 1993. In-vitro evaluation of the clastogenic properties of nitrites and nitrates. *Comptes rendus des seances de la Societe de Biologie et de ses filiales* 187 (6), 744-750.
- Baranova M, Mala P and Burdova O, 1993. Transport of nitrates and nitrites into the milk of dairy cows through the digestive system. *Veterinarni Medicina* 38 (10), 581-588.
- Baranova M, Mala P, Burdova O and Zezula I, 1999. Influence of long-term nitrate exposure on calves. *Bulletin of the Veterinary Research Institute in Pulawy* 43 (1), 77-83.
- Baranova M, Jackova A, Mala P, Burdova O and Zezula I, 2000. Methemoglobin levels in blood and transrenal passage of nitrates and nitrites in calves. *Bulletin of the Veterinary Research Institute in Pulawy* 44, 73-78.
- Baranova M, Mal'a P, Burdova O, Jackova A and Zezula I, 2001. The influence of the nitrate load on the accumulation of nitrates and nitrites in slaughter poultry. *Folia Veterinaria* 45 (3), 157-159.
- Bartholomew B and Hill MJ, 1984. The pharmacology of dietary nitrate and origin of urinary nitrate. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* 22, 789-795.
- Bartik M and Piskac A, 1981. Veterinary Toxicology. Elsevier Amsterdam, 346 pp.
- Bath RN and Eddy FB, 1980. Transport of nitrite across fish gills. *J Exp Zool* 214 (1), 119-121.
- Bazzara LG, Velez ML, Costamagna ME, Cabanillas AM, Fozzatti L, Lucero AM, Pellizas CG and Masini-Repiso AM, 2007. Nitric oxide/cGMP signaling inhibits TSH-stimulated iodide uptake and expression of thyroid peroxidase and thyroglobulin mRNA in FRTL-5 thyroid cells. *Thyroid* 17 (8), 717-727.
- Berende PL, 1977. Dynamic and kinetic aspects of nitrate in rations for milk-fed calves. *ILOB Reports* 430-430a.
- Boink ABTJ, Beekhof PK, te Biesebeek JD, Timmerman A, Elvers LH, Dormans JAMA and Vleeming W, 1998. On the etiology of nitrite-induced hypertrophy of the zona glomerulosa of rats: III. Effect of combined administration of nitrite and an ACE inhibitor. Report No. 235802013 from the National Institute of Public Health and the Environment (RIVM), Bilthoven, Netherlands.
- Bradley WB, Eppson HF and Beath OA, 1940. Methylene blue as an antidote for poisoning by oat hay and other plants containing nitrates. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 96, 41-42.



- Bruning-Fann CS and Kaneene JB, 1993. The effects of nitrate, nitrite, and N-nitroso compounds on animal health. *Vet Hum Toxicol* 35 (3), 237-253.
- Butt SB, Riaz M and Iqbal MZ, 2001. Simultaneous determination of nitrite and nitrate by normal phase ion-pair liquid chromatography. *Talanta* 55 (4), 789-797.
- Cammack R, Joannou CL, Cui XY, Torres Martinez C, Maraj SR and Hughes MN, 1999. Nitrite and nitrosyl compounds in food preservation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1411 (2-3), 475-488.
- Casanova JA, Gross LK, McMullen SE and Schenck FJ, 2006. Use of Griess reagent containing vanadium(III) for post-column derivatization and simultaneous determination of nitrite and nitrate in baby food. *Journal of AOAC International* 89 (2), 447-451.
- Cash D, Funston R, King M and Wichman D, 2007. Nitrate Toxicity of Montana Forages. Available at: http://animalrangeextension.montana.edu/articles/Forage/General/Nitrate-tox.htm.
- Cassens VJ, Luke EM and Hoover PJ, 1997. The National Pesticide Information Retrieval System. *Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society* 213, 48-CINF.
- Causeret J, 1984. Nitrates, nitrites, nitrosamines: apports alimentaires et santé. Annales des Falsifications, de l'Expertise Chimique et Toxicologique 77 (826), 133-151.
- Chen H, Fang YJ, An TC and Jin XL, 1999. Flow-injection catalytic spectrophotometric determination of trace amounts of nitrite. *Analytical Letters* 32 (14), 2887-2897.
- Clarke EGC and Clarke ML, 1975. Veterinary Toxicology. Balliere Tindall, London. 438 pp.
- Cooper MR and Johnson AW, 1984. Poisonous Plants in Britain and their effects on Animals and Man. Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, Reference Book 161. Her Majesty's Stationary Office, London.
- Crowley JW, 1985. Effects of Nitrate on Livestock. American Society of Agricultural Engineers. Paper Number 80-20026. Available at http://www.uwex.edu/ces/forage/pubs/nitrate.htm.
- Dejam A, Hunter CJ and Gladwin MT, 2007. Effects of dietary nitrate on blood pressure. N Engl J Med 356 (15), 1590.
- Di Matteo V and Esposito E, 1997. Methods for the determination of nitrite by highperformance liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. *Journal of Chromatography A* 789 (1-2), 213-219.
- Djekoun-Bensoltane S, Kammerer M, Larhantec M, Pilet N and Thorin C, 2007. Nitrate and nitrite concentrations in rabbit saliva Comparison with rat saliva. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology* 23 (1), 132-134.
- Dollahite JW and Rowe LD, 1974. Nitrate and Nitrite Intoxication in Rabbits and Cattle. *Southwest Vet.* 27, 246-248.
- Dougall HT, Smith L, Duncan C and Benjamin N, 1995. The effect of amoxicillin on salivary nitrite concentrations an important mechanism of adverse reactions. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 39 (4), 460-462.
- Duncan C, Dougall H, Johnston P, Green S, Brogan R, Leifert C, Smith L, Golden M and Benjamin N, 1995. Chemical generation of nitric-oxide in the mouth from the enterosalivary circulation of dietary nitrate. *Nature Medicine* 1 (6), 546-551.



- Dykhuizen RS, Frazer R, Duncan C, Smith CC, Golden M, Benjamin N and Leifert C, 1996. Antimicrobial effect of acidified nitrite on gut pathogens: Importance of dietary nitrate in host defense. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 40 (6), 1422-1425.
- EC (European Commission), 1998. Council Directive 98/83/EC of 3 November 1998 on the quality of water intended for human consumption (OJ L 330, 5.12.1998). Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=CONSLEG:1998L0083:20031120: EN:PDF.
- EC (European Commission), 2003. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Animal Nutrition on Undesirable Substances in Feed (SCAN), adopted on 20 February 2003, updated on 25 April 2003. Available at: http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/sc/scan/out126\_bis\_en.pdf.
- Edwards WC and McCoy CP, 1980. Nitrate poisoning in Oklahoma cattle. *Veterinary Medicine & Small Animal Clinician* 75 (3), 457-458.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2008a. Nitrate in vegetables Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Contaminants in the Food chain. *The EFSA Journal* 689, 1-79. Available at: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa\_locale-1178620753812\_1178712852460.htm.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2008b. Animal welfare aspects of husbandry systems for farmed trout Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Animal Health and Welfare. *The EFSA Journal* 796, 1-22. Available at: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/EFSA/efsa\_locale-1178620753812\_1211902132105.htm.
- Eleftheriadou A, Pexara A, Gavriilidou I, Ambrosiadis I, Georgakis S, Politis M and Karanasios I, 2002. Effect of nitrate and nitrite content in water and feed on their presence in the muscle tissue of fattening pigs. *Archiv Fur Lebensmittelhygiene* 53 (6), 130-133.
- EMEA (European Medicines Agency), 2006. Committee for Medicial Products for Veterinary Use. Sodium nitrite summary report. Available at: http://www.emea.europa.eu/pdfs/vet/mrls/sodiumnitrite.pdf.
- EN 12014-1 1997a. Revision-A1 (1999). Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 1: General considerations. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.
- EN 12014-2 1997b. Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 2: HPLC/IC method for the determination of nitrate content of vegetables and vegetable products. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.
- EN 12014-3 2005a. Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 3: Spectrometric determination of nitrate and nitrite content of meat products after enzymatic reduction of nitrate to nitrite. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.
- EN 12014-4 2005b. Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 4: Ion-exchange chromatographic (IC) method for the determination of nitrate and nitrite content of meat products. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.
- EN 12014-5 1997c. Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 5: Enzymatic determination of nitrate content of vegetable-containing food for babies and infants. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.



- EN 12014-7 1998. Foodstuffs Determination of nitrate and/or nitrite content Part 7: Continuous flow method for the determination of nitrate content of vegetables and vegetable products after Cadmium reduction. European Committee for Standardization (CEN). http://www.cen.eu.
- Ensafi AA and Keyvanfard M, 1994. Selective kinetic spectrophotometric determination of nitrite in food and water. *Analytical Letters* 27 (1), 169-182.
- Ensafi AA and Dehaghei GB, 1999. Ultra-trace analysis of nitrite in food samples by flow injection with spectrophotometric detection. *Fresenius Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 363 (1), 131-133.
- Ensafi AA, Rezaei B and Nouroozi S, 2004. Simultaneous spectrophotometric determination of nitrite and nitrate by flow injection analysis. *Analytical Sciences* 20 (12), 1749-1753.
- Fang YJ, Chen H, Gao ZX and Jing XL, 2002. Flow injection determination of nitrite in food samples by dialysis membrane separation and photometric detection. *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry* 82 (1), 1-6.
- Fang YJ, Gao ZX, Yan SL, Wang HY and Zhou HY, 2005. A dip-and-read test strip for the determination of nitrite in food samples for the field screening. *Analytical Letters* 38 (11), 1803-1811.
- FAO/WHO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations/World Health Organization), 1962. Evaluation of the toxicity of a number of antimicrobials and antioxidants, Sixth report of the joint FAO/WHO Expert committee on Food Additives, World Health Organization technical report Series nr 228, 69-75.
- FAO/WHO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations/World Health Organization), 2003a. Nitrate (and potential endogenous formation of N-nitroso compounds). WHO Food Additive series 50, Geneva: World Health Organisation. Available at: http://www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jecmono/v50je06.htm.
- FAO/WHO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations/World Health Organization), 2003b. Nitrite (and potential endogenous formation of N-nitroso compounds). WHO Food Additive series 50, Geneva: World Health Organisation. Available at: http://www.inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jecmono/v50je05.htm.
- Fritsch P, Desaintblanquat G and Klein D, 1985. Excretion of nitrates and nitrites in saliva and bile in the dog. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 23 (7), 655-659.
- Galloway JN, Aber JD, Erisman JW, Seitzinger SP, Howarth RW, Cowling EB and Cosby BJ, 2003. The nitrogen cascade. *Bioscience* 53 (4), 341-356.
- Gangolli SD, Vandenbrandt PA, Feron VJ, Janzowsky C, Koeman JH, Speijers GJA, Spiegelhalder B, Walker R and Wishnok JS, 1994. Nitrate, nitrite and n-nitroso compounds. *European Journal of Pharmacology-Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology Section* 292 (1), 1-38.
- Gao Q, 2002. Uric acid-hexacyanoferrate (III)-luminol chemiluminescence system for the determination of trace nitrite. *Chinese Journal of Analytical Chemistry* 30 (7), 812-814.
- Gao F, Zhang L, Wang L, Shike She S and Zhu C, 2005. Ultrasensitive and selective determination of trace amounts of nitrite ion with a novel fluorescence probe mono[6-N(2-carboxy-phenyl)]-β-cyclodextrin. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 533 (1), 25-29.



- Ghasemi J, Jabbari A, Amini A, Oskoei AG and Abdolahi B, 2004. Kinetic spectrophotometric determination of nitrite based on its catalytic effect on the oxidation of methyl red by bromate. *Analytical Letters* 37 (10), 2205-2214.
- Gladwin MT, Grubina R and Doyle MP, 2009. The new chemical biology of nitrite reactions with hemoglobin: R-state catalysis, oxidative denitrosylation, and nitrite reductase/anhydrase. *Acc Chem Res* 42 (1), 157-167.
- Goelz L, 2002. Toxic Plants and Compounds. Available at: http://www.pipevet.com/articles/toxicity.htm.
- Grant RJ and Albright JL, 2000. Feeding behaviour. In: Farm Animal Metabolism and Nutrition. CABI Publishing, D'Mello JPF (ed.), Wallingford, Oxon, UK, 365-382.
- Greene I and Hiatt EP, 1954. Behavior of the nitrate in the dog. Am. J. Physiol. 176 463-467.
- Grosell M and Jensen FB, 2000. Uptake and effects of nitrite in the marine teleost fish *Platichthys flesus. Aquat Toxicol* 50 (1-2), 97-107.
- Guillette LJ and Edwards TM, 2005. Is Nitrate an Ecologically Relevant Endocrine Disruptor in Vertebrates? *Integr.Comp.Biol.* 45 19-27.
- Gupta RC, 2007. Veterinary Toxicology: Basic and Clinical Principles. Academic Press. ISBN 0123704677, 1201 pp.
- Haliburton JC and Edwards WC, 1978. Nitrate poisoning in Oklahoma cattle during the winter of 1977-1978. *Veterinary & Human Toxicology* 20, 401-403.
- Hartman PE, 1982. Nitrates and nitrites: ingestion, pharmacodynamics, and toxicology. In: Chemical mutagens. Vol.7. De Serres FJ and Hollaender A (eds.). Plenum Publishing Co., New York, 211-294.
- Harvey JW, 2006. Pathogenesis, laboratory diagnosis, and clinical implications of erythrocyte enzyme deficiencies in dogs, cats, and horses. *Vet Clin Pathol* 35 (2), 144-156.
- He D, Zhang ZW, Huang Y and Hu Y, 2007. Chemiluminescence microflow injection analysis system on a chip for the determination of nitrite in food. *Food Chemistry* 101 (2), 667-672.
- Hüsler BR and Blum JWB, 2001. Nitrite/Nitrate Responses to Endotoxin in Calves J. Vet. Med. A 48, 487-500.
- JECFA (Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives), 1974. 17th report of the joint FAO/WHO expert committee on food additives WHO Food Additives series n. 5, p 97.
- Jensen FB, 2003. Nitrite disrupts multiple physiological functions in aquatic animals. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology* 135 (1), 9-24.
- Jie N, Yang J and Meng F, 1993. Fluorimetric determination of nitrite. *Talanta* 40 (7), 1009-1011.
- Jie NQ, Yang JH and Li JS, 1994. Fluorometric-determination of nitrite using a new reagent system. *Analytical Letters* 27, 1001-1008.
- Jie N, Yang D, Jiang Q, Zhang Q and Wei L, 1999. A fluorescence quenching method for the determination of nitrite with indole. *Microchemical Journal* 62 (3), 371-376.



- Juszkiewicz T, Kowalski B and Pastucha E, 1980. Occurrence and formation of nitrosamines in animal feeds. In: () N-Nitroso Compounds : Analysis, Formation and Occurrence. Davis W (ed.), IARC Scientific Publication n. 31 Lyon (F), 589-594.
- Kammerer M, Pinault L and Pouliquen H, 1992. Nitrate content in milk relationship with nitrate level in livestock water sources. *Annales De Recherches Veterinaires* 23 (2), 131-138.
- Kazemzadeh A and Ensafi AA, 2001. Sequential flow injection spectrophotometric determination of nitrite and nitrate in various samples. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 442, 319-326.
- Kazemzadeh A, 2005. Development of new optical nitrite detector. Asian Journal of Chemistry 17 (2), 767-773.
- Kazemzadeh A and Daghighi S, 2005. Optical nitrite sensor based on chemical modification of a polymer film. *Spectrochim Acta A Mol Biomol Spectrosc* 61 (8), 1871-1875.
- Kemp A, Guerink JH, Malestein A and van't Klooster A, 1978. Grassland Production and nitrate poisoning in cattle. Proceedings of 7th General Meeting European Grassland Federation, Gent. 9.1-9.15.
- Koch BA, Parrish DB and Sukhonthasarnpa S, 1963. Effects of dietary nitrate and nitrite on growing swine. J. Animal Sci. 22, 840.
- Koppang N, 1966. A severe progressive liver disease in fur animals. I. Symptoms and organ changes. *Nord. Vet.-Med.* 18, 205-209.
- Koppang N, 1974. Dimethylnitrosamine formation in fish-meal and toxic effects in pigs. *American Journal of Pathology* 74 (1), 95-108.
- Koupparis MA, Walczak KM and Malmstadt HV, 1982. Determination of nitrite in waters by using a stopped-flow analyzer. *Analyst* 107, 1309-1315.
- Lehman AJ, 1958. Quarterly reports to the editor on topics of current interest. Nitrates and Nitrites in meat products. *Quarterly Bulletin of the association of Food and Drug Officers* 22,136-138.
- Lewicki J, Wiechetek M, Souffrant WB, Karlik W and Garwacki S, 1998. The fate of nitrogen from 15N-labeled nitrate after single intravenous administration of Na15NO3 in sheep. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 76, 850-857.
- Lewis D, 1951. The metabolism of nitrate and nitrite in the sheep. The reduction of nitrate in the rumen of the sheep. *Biochem. J.* 48, 175-180.
- Li JS, Wang H, Zhang X and Zhang HS, 2003. Spectrofluorimetric determination of total amount of nitrite and nitrate in biological sample with a new fluorescent probe 1,3,5,7-tetramethyl-8-(3',4'-diaminophenyl)-difluoroboradiaza-s-indacence. *Talanta* 61 (6), 797-802.
- Liang B, Iwatsuki M and Fukasawa T, 1994. Catalytic spectrophotometric determination of nitrite using the chlorpromazine hydrogen-peroxide redox reaction in acetic-acid. *Medium*. *Analyst* 119, 2113-2117.
- Lijinsky W, Greenblatt M and Kommineni C, 1973. Brief communication: feeding studies of nitrilotriacetic acid and derivatives in rats. *J.Natl.Cancer Inst.* 50, 1061-1063.



- Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E, Cole JA and Benjamin N, 2004. Nitrate, bacteria and human health. *Nat.Rev.Microbiol.* 2, 593-602.
- Lundberg JO, Weitzberg E and Gladwin MT, 2008. The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 7, 156-157.
- Maekawa A, Ogiu T, Onodera H, Furuta K, Matsuoka C, Ohno Y and Odashima S, 1982. Carcinogenicity studies of sodium nitrite and sodium nitrate in F-344 rats. *Food Chem.Toxicol.* 20, 25-33.
- MAFF (Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food, UK), 1998. 1997 total diet study nitrate and nitrite. Food Surveillance Information Sheet 163.
- Malone P, 1978. Monensin sodium toxicity in cattle. Veterinary Record 103, 477-478.
- Marais JP, Therion JJ, Mackie RI, Kistner A and Dennison C, 1988. Effect of nitrate and its reduction products on the growth and activity of the rumen microbial population. *Br J Nutr* 59 (2), 301-313.
- Maric P, Ali SS, Heron LG, Rosenfeld D and Greenwood M, 2008. Methaemoglobinaemia following ingestion of a commonly available food additive. *Med J Aust* 188 (3), 156-158.
- Matteucci O, Diletti G, Prencipe V, Giannatale Ed, Marconi MM and Migliorati G, 2008. Two cases of methemoglobinaemia caused by suspected sodium nitrite poisoning. *Veterinaria Italiana* 44 (2), 439-453.
- McKnight, G., Duncan, C.W., Leifert, C. and Golden, M.H. 1999. Dietary nitrate in man: friend or foe? *British Journal of Nutrition* 81, 349-358.
- McKnight, G., Smith, L.M., Drummond, R.S., Duncan, C.W., Goldem, M.N.H. and Benjamin, N. 1997. The chemical synthesis of nitric oxide in the stomach from dietary nitrate in man. *Gut* 40, 211-214.
- McMullen, S.E., Casanova, J.A., Gross, L.K. and Schenck, F.J. 2005. Ion chromatographic determination of nitrate and nitrite in vegetable and fruit baby foods. *Journal of AOAC International* 88, 1793-1796.
- Mensinga, T.T., Speijers, G.J. and Meulenbelt, J. 2003. Health implications of exposure to environmental nitrogenous compounds. *Toxicol.Rev.* 22, 41-51.
- Merino, L., Edberg, U., Fuchs, G. and Aman, P. 2000. Liquid chromatographic determination of residual nitrite/nitrate in foods: NMKL collaborative study. *Journal of AOAC International* 83, 365-375.
- Michalski, Z. (1963). Morphologic changes in acute and chronic methe-moglobinemia induced by sodium nitrite. Zesz. Nauk. Akad. Roln. Wroclawiu, Weter. 16, 173-194.
- Mirvish SS, 1975. Blocking the formation of N-nitroso compounds with ascorbic acid *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 258, 175-180.
- Mirvish SS, 1975. Formation of N-nitroso compounds: chemistry, kinetics, and in vivo occurrence. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 31 (3), 325-351.
- Mirvish SS, Patil K, Ghadirian P and Kommineni VR, 1975. Disappearance of nitrite from the rat stomach: contribution of emptying and other factors. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 54 (4), 869-875.



- Muirhe M and Alexander T, 1997. Poisons: Recognition, Treatment and Control. In: Managing pig health and the treatment of disease. Muirhe M and Alexander T (eds.) 5M Enterprises Limited, Sheffield, UK, 1<sup>st</sup> ed., 423-440.
- National Academy of Science, US, 1981. The health effects of nitrates, nitries and N-nitroso compounds. Part 1 of a two part study by the Committee on Nitrite and Alternative Curing Agents in Food. Washington D.C.: National Academy Press.
- NIOSH (The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, USA), 1987. NIOSH Registry of toxic effects of chemical substances.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program), 2001. Toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of sodium nitrite (CAS NO. 7632-00-0) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (drinking water studies). *Natl.Toxicol.Program.Tech.Rep.Ser.* 495, 7-273.
- Ologhobo AD, Adegede HI and Maduagiwu EN, 1996. Occurrence of nitrate, nitrite and volatile nitrosamines in certain feedstuffs and animal products. *Nutr Health* 11 (2), 109-114.
- Osweiler GD, Carson T L, Buck WB and Van Gelder GA, 1985. Clinical and Diagnostic Veterinary Toxicology. 3rd edition, Dubuque: Kendall/Hunt, 3-32.
- Ozmen O, Mor F, Sahinduran S and Unsal A, 2005. Pathological and toxicological investigations of chronic nitrate poisoning in cattle. *Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry* 87, 99–106.
- Oztekin N, Nutku MS and Erim FB, 2002. Simultaneous determination of nitrite and nitrate in meat products and vegetables by capillary electrophoresis. *Food Chemistry* 76, 103-106.
- Packer PJ, Leach SA, Duncan SN, Thompson MH and Hill M.J, 1989. The effect of different sources of nitrate exposure on urinary nitrate recovery in humans and its relevance to the methods in estimating nitrate exposure in epidemiological studies. *Carcinogenesis* (London) 10, 1989-1996.
- Robinson PH, 1999. Nitrates and dairy cattle: cause for concern? University of California Cooperative extension. Available at: http://cetulare.ucdavis.edu/pubdairy/mlaw0198.htm
- Rogers PA and Hope-Cawdery MJ, 1980. Monesin, ketosis and nitrate toxicity in cows. *Vet Record.* 106 (14), 311-312.
- Rogers P, 1999. Poisoning in cattle and sheep by urea, nitrates and nitrites: Sources, toxic doses, treatment and prevention. Available at: http://homepage.eircom.net/~progers/ureanitr.htm.
- Sakshaug J, Sognen E, Hansen MA and Koppang N, 1965. Dimethylnitrosamine; its hepatotoxic effect in sheep and its occurrence in toxic batches of herring meal. *Nature* 206, 1261-1262.
- Sanchez-Echaniz J, Benito-Fernández J and Mintegui-Raso S, 2001. Methemoglobinemia and consumption of vegetables in infants. *Pediatrics* 107 (5), 1024-1028.
- Savino F, Maccario S, Guidi C, Castagno E, Farinasso D, Cresi F, Silvestro L and Mussa GC, 2006. Methemoglobinemia caused by the ingestion of courgette soup given in order to resolve constipation in two formula-fed infants. *Ann.Nutr.Metab.* 50, 368-371.
- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1992. European Commission food science and techniques. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food (twenty-sixth series), 19 October 1990. Nitrates and nitrites, ISBN 92-826-3465-5, 21-31.



- SCF (Scientific Committee for Food), 1995. European Commission food science and techniques. Reports of the Scientific Committee for Food (thirty eighth series), 22 September 1995. Nitrate and nitrite, 5-33.
- Schneider NR and Yeary RA, 1975. Nitrite and nitrate pharmacokinetics in dog, sheep, and pony. *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 36 (7), 941-947.
- Schultz DS, Deen WM, Karel SF, Wagner DA and Tannenbaum SR, 1985. Pharmacokinetics of nitrate in humans: role of gastrointestinal absorption and metabolism. *Carcinogenesis* (London) 6, 847-852.
- Seerley RW, Emerick RJ, Embry LB and Olson OE, 1965. Effect of nitrate administered cotinuosly in drinking water for swine and sheep. *Journal of Animal Science* 24 (4), 1014-1019.
- Sell JL and Roberts WK, 1963. Effects of dietary nitrite on the chick: growth, liver vitamin A stores and thyroid weight. *Journal of Nutrition* 79, 171-178.
- Sen NP, Smith DC and Schwinghamer L, 1969. Formation of N-nitrosamines from secondary amines and nitrite in human and animal gastric juice. *Food and Cosmetics Toxicology* 7, 301-307.
- Setchell BP and Williams AJ, 1968. Plasma nitrate and nitrite in chronic and acute nitrate poisoning in sheep. *Australian Veterinary Journal* 38, 58-62.
- Sinclair KB and Jones DIH, 1967. Nitrate toxicity in sheep. *Research in Veterinary Science* 8, 65-70.
- Sinclair K B and Jones DIH, 1967. Nitrite toxicity in sheep. Res. Vet. Sci. 8, 65-70.
- Siu DC and Henshall A, 1998. Ion chromatographic determination of nitrate and nitrite in meat products. *Journal of Chromatography A* 804, 157-160.
- Sleight SD, Sinha DP and Uzoukwu M, 1972. Effect of sodium nitrite on reproductive performance of pregnant sows. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 161 (7), 819-823.
- Slenning BD, Galey FD and Anderson M, 1991. Forage-related nitrate toxicoses possibly confounded by nonprotein nitrogen and monensin in the diet used at a commercial dairy heifer replacement operation. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 198 (5), 867-870.
- Speijers GJA, Van Went GF, Van Apeldoorn ME, Montizaan GK, Janus JA, Canton JH, Van Gestel CAM, Van der Heijden CA, Heijna-Merkus E, Knapp AGAC, Luttick R and de Zwart D, 1987 Integrated Criteria document Nitrate Effects. Appendix to RIVM report No. 758473007.Bilthoven
- Spiegelhalder B, Eisenbrand G. and Preussmann R, 1976. Influence of dietary nitrate on nitrite content of human saliva: possible relevance to in vivo formation of N-nitroso compounds. *Food Cosmet. Toxicol.* 14, 545-548.
- Spoelstra SF, 1985. Nitrate in silage. Grass and Forage Science 40 (1), 1-11.
- Spoelstra SF, 1987. Degradation of nitrate by enterobacteria during silage fermentation of grass. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science* 35 (1), 43-54.



- Stalikas CD, Konidari CN and Nanos CG, 2003. Ion chromatographic method for the simultaneous determination of nitrite and nitrate by post-column indirect fluorescence detection. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1002, 237-241.
- Stoltenow C and Lardy G, 1998. Nitrate poisoning of livestock. Available at: http://www.ag.ndsu.edu/pubs/ansci/livestoc/v839w.htm
- Stormorken H, 1953. Methemoglobinemia in domestic animals. *Proceedings 15th Int. Vet. Congr. Stockholm* 1 (Part I; Part II), 501-506 ; 269-270.
- Strickland JR, Spiers DE, Fletcher L, Oliver JW and Aiken GE, 2008. Physiological Basis of Fescue Toxicosis. Tall Fescue On-line Monograph. Available at: http://forages.oregonstate.edu/is/tfis/book.cfm?pageid=367&chapter=8&section=0/
- Svoboda Z, Machova J, Poleszczuc J, Hoda J, Hamaakova J and Kroupova H, 2005. Nitrite Poisoning of Fish in Aquaculture Facilities with Water-recirculating Systems. *Acta Vet* Brno 74, 129-137.
- TheMerckVeterinaryManual.2006.Availableat:http://www.merckvetmanual.com/mvm/index.jsp.2006.Availableat:
- Thornton I and Abrahams P, 1983. Soil ingestion a major pathway of heavy metals into livestock grazing contaminated land. *Sci Total Environ* 28, 287-294.
- Til HP, Kuper CF and Falke HE, 1997. Nitrite-induced adrenal effects in rats and the consequences for the no-observed-effect level. *Food Chem.Toxicol.* 35, 349-355.
- Trif A, Gherdan A, Pârvu D, Pădeanu I and Păcurar M, 1986. Cercetări privind conținutul în azotați și azotiți în sânge și lapte la ovine. *Lucr. Șt. IAT, vol. XXI, seria Zoot. si MV*, 119-122.
- Trif A, Pârvu D and Curtui V, 1993. The dynamic of methaemoglobin in sheep in correlation with the level of nitrate and nitrite intake. *Lucrari Stiintifice Medicina Veterinara, Timisoara, vol. XXVII*, 100-104.
- Vallance P, 1997. Dietary nitrate: poison or panacea? Gut. 40, 288.
- van Broekhoven LW and Davies JA, 1980. Prevention of artifact formation during the analysis of N-nitrosamines in the rumen fluid of cows. *J Agric Food Chem* 28 (5), 957-959.
- Van Broekhoven LW and Davies JA, 1982. N-nitrosamines in grass silages. *IARC Sci Publ* (41), 319-326.
- Violante A, Cianetti A and Ordine A, 1973. Adrenal cortex function during subacute poisoning with sodium nitrite. *Quad Sclavo Diagn* 9 (4), 907-920.
- Violante A, Nardoni C and Lenza G, 1974. An ultrastructural research of pancreatic islets in sodium nitrite poisoned rabbits (author's transl). *Ann Ist Super Sanita* 10 (3-4), 171-177.
- Vyt P and Spruytte H, 2006. Nitrite intoxication in sows The Veterinary Record, 256.
- Vyt P, Maes D, Vrielinck J and Castryck F, 2005. Nitrite intoxications in pigs Vlaams Diergeneeskun dig Tijdschrift 74, 359-363.
- Waldner DN and Looper ML, 2001. Water for Dairy Cattle.F-4275. Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Service, Oklahoma State University. Available at: www.ansi/okstate.edu/exten/dairy/wf-4275.html



- Walker, R. 1990. Nitrates, nitrites and N-nitrosocompounds: a review of the occurrence in food and diet and the toxicological implications. *Food Addit. Contam.* 7, 717-768.
- Wang LC, Garcia-Rivera J and Burris RH, 1961. Metabolism of nitrate by cattle. *Biochem. J.* 81, 237-242.
- Wendt M, 1985. Symptomatik aktueller Vergiftungen. Der Praktische Tierartz 66, 979-984.
- Wehrmann J and Scharpf HC, 1989. Reduction of nitrate leaching in a vegetable farmfertilization, crop rotation, plant residues. Protection of water quality from harmful emissions with special regard to nitrate and heavy metals. *Proceedings of the 5th International Symposium of CIEC*, 247-253.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 2007. Nitrate and nitrite in drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. Available at: http://www.who.int/water\_sanitationn\_health/dwq/chemicals/nitratenitrite2ndadd.pdf.
- Williams EM and Eddy FB, 1989. Effect of nitrite on the embryonic-development of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo-salar*). *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 46 (10), 1726-1729.
- Winter AJ, 1962. Studies on nitrate metabolism in cattle. Am. J. Vet. Res. 23, 500-505.
- Witter JP, Balish E and Gatley SJ, 1979a. Distribution of nitrogen-13 from labelled nitrate and nitrite in germfree and conventional-flora rats. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 38, 870-878.
- Witter JP, Gatley SJ and Balish E, 1979b. Distribution of nitrogen-13 from labelled nitrate (<sup>13</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in humans and rats. *Science* (Washington, D.C.) 204, 411-413.
- Woolford MK, 1978. Antimicrobial effects of mineral acids, organic acids, salts and sterilizing agents in relation on their potential as silage additives. *J. British Grassland Soc.* 33, 131-136.
- Worth AJ, Ainsworth SJ, Brocklehurst PJ and Collett MG, 1997. Nitrite poisoning in cats and dogs fed a commercial pet food. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal* 45, 193-195.
- Wright M J and Davison KL, 1964. Nitrate accumulation in crops and nitrate poisoning in animals. In: Advances in Agronomy, Academic Press, Inc., New York, 16, 197-247.
- Yanbo W, Zhang W, Li W and Xu Z, 2006. Acute toxicity of nitrite on tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) at different external chloride concentrations. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry 32, 49–54.
- Yaremcio B, 1991. Nitrate poisoning and feeding nitrate feeds to livestock. Agri-Facts. Agdex 400/ 60-1. Available at: http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/agdex851



# ABBREVIATIONS

ADI	Acceptable Daily Intake			
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists			
b.w.	body weight			
CEN	European Committee for Standardisation			
CFU	colony-forming unit			
cGMP	cyclic guanosine monophosphate			
CONTAM Panel	Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain			
CVMP	Committee for Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use			
DM	dry matter			
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority			
EMEA	European Medicines Agency			
EU	European Union			
FAO/WHO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations/World Health Organization			
GAP	Good Agricultural Practice			
JECFA	Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives			
LD <sub>50</sub>	lethal dose			
LOAEL	lowest-observed adverse effect level			
LOD	limit of detection			
LOQ	limit of quantification			
MHb	methemoglobinemia			
metHb	methaemoglobin			
ML	maximum level			
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate			
NDMA	nitrosodimethylamine			
NO	nitrogen monoxide			
NO <sub>2</sub>	nitrogen dioxide			
NO <sub>2</sub>	nitrite			
NOAEL	no-observed adverse effect level			
NTP	National Toxicology Programme			
SARP	steroid acute response protein			
SCF	Scientific Committee for Food			